Third-Order Ion–Molecule Clustering Reactions

A. GOOD*

Department of Chemistry, The City University, London EC1V 4PB, England

Received May 15, 1974 (Revised Manuscript Received September 25, 1974)

Contents

I.	Introduction	561
	A. Units	561
II.	Apparatus	561
	A. Drift and Flow Methods	562
	B. Static Methods	562
Ⅲ.	Mechanism of Clustering	562
IV.	Clustering in the Rare Gases	563
V.	Clustering in Homonuclear Diatomic Gases	564
	A. Hydrogen	564
	B. Nitrogen	564
	C. Oxygen	505
VI.	Clustering in Oxides of Nitrogen	507
		507
	B. Nitrogen Dioxide	507
1/11	C. Clustering around the NO ₃ Ion	567
V . \//	Solvation of Matal Jana	568
VIII.		568
	B. Other Metal lons	571
IY	Clustering around Halide lons	571
ил. Х	Solvated Proton Clusters	572
<i>A</i> .	A. Thermodynamics	572
	B. Kinetics	573
	C. Structure	574
	D. Other Data for Hydrated Proton Clusters	575
XI.	Solvated Hydroxyl lons	575
XII.	Solvation of Ammonium lons	576
	A. Clustering in Pure Ammonia	576
	B. Clustering in the Presence of Water	576
	C. Clustering in Nitric Oxide/Ammonia Mixtures	577
XⅢ.	The Solvation of CN ⁻	577
XIV.	Clustering around Organic lons	577
	A. Clustering Reactions in Methane	577
	B. Clustering in Ethylene and Derivatives	577
	C. Clustering in Other Aliphatic Hydrocarbons	578
	D. Clustering in Amines	578
	E. Clustering in Other Aliphatic Compounds	578
	F. Clustering in Aromatic Compounds	578
XV.	Clustering in Boron Compounds	578
XVI.	Clustering in Silicon and Germanium Compounds	5/8
XVII.	I neories of Third-Order Ion-Molecule Reaction	579
	A. General Langevin Theory of Two-Body Reactions	579
	Empirical Inito-Order Reaction Rate Theory Consider Theory	579
	D. Charge-Transfer Theory	579
	F Other Theories of Bare Gas Clustering	580
xv⊪	Conclusion	581
XIX.	References	581

Present address: Department of Anthropology, University of Durham, South End House, South Road, Durham DH1 3TG, England.

I. Introduction

The technical advances of the past few years have led to a vast widening of the scope of the mass spectrometer in the investigation of ion-molecule reactions. It is now possible to study such reactions at higher pressures and over a wider range of temperatures than before. This has meant that many slow reactions, hitherto undetectable in the conventional low-pressure ion source, could be investigated. Such studies have led, in turn, to the recognition that many ion-molecule reactions display third-order kinetics.

This review will be concerned primarily with thermal "clustering" reactions of the general type:

$$+ A + M \rightarrow I \cdot A + M \tag{1}$$

where I denotes a positively or negatively charged ion and A and M are neutral species. As indicated, most clustering reactions are reversible, though not necessarily appreciably so for all experimental conditions. The bonding between ion and "solvent" is generally found to be weak relative to normal chemical bond strengths; $D^{\circ}(I-A)$ is typically 200 kJ mol⁻¹ or less, often much less. It seems likely that the I-A bond derives primarily from electrostatic forces such as iondipole attraction.

Apart from their intrinsic interest as a new type of chemical process, such clustering reactions can provide a great deal of information on the nature of solvation.^{1,2} Equation 1 may be regarded as representing merely the first step in a series of reactions leading to the fully solvated ion.

It has also been found that ion-molecule clustering is a particularly important process in the ionosphere.³ These two apparently divergent areas of interest can in practice be investigated using identical techniques, and the present article is intended to cover both fields. The literature has been surveyed up to the end of 1973, although some more recent work has also been included.

A. Units

Third-order rate constants will be quoted in units of molecule⁻² cm³ sec⁻¹ throughout, while second-order rate constants will be expressed in units of molecule⁻¹ cm³ sec⁻¹. For convenience, the exponent involved will be given in brackets after the numerical value; thus 1(-27) indicates a rate constant value of 1 \times 10⁻²⁷. Free energies, enthalpies, and activation energies are quoted in units of kJ mol⁻¹, entropies in J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹, all referred to a standard state of one atmosphere unless otherwise indicated (N.B. 4.184 J \equiv 1 calorie).

II. Apparatus

No attempt will be made in this article to give a detailed account of the numerous experimental systems which have been employed in the investigation of clustering reactions. It is, however, useful to mention certain of the basic types of instrument which have been developed. These may conveniently be divided into two categories.

A. Drift and Flow Methods

The conventional type of drift-tube experiment,⁴ in which a cloud of ions moves, under the influence of a weak electric field, through a static gas, has been widely used in the measurement of ionic mobilities, equilibrium constants, and kinetic data.⁵ Improved drift tubes are still in use for these purposes.^{6,7}

The main drawback of the method is the necessity of subjecting the ions to the accelerating electric field, which, however weak it may be, nevertheless excites the ions above their thermal energies. Data applicable to true thermodynamic equilibrium can only be obtained by the extrapolation of results obtained over a range of field strength (E/N) values.

More recently, techniques have been developed in which the entire gas sample passes through a flow system. The ions are produced at some point in this flow, either by photoionization⁸ or by electrical discharge,⁹ and, after a certain reaction time, regulated by the rate of flow, the ions are mass-analyzed. The "flowing-afterglow" technique of Ferguson et al.¹⁰ is the most powerful flow method yet developed. Further gases may be added downstream from the ionization, and so the reactions of chosen ions with a whole range of neutral reactants may be studied. Reactions have normally been carried out in a stream of helium which, being in excess, acts as the third body, M, in clustering reactions. The reaction region of the flow system is free of electric fields and the collisional deactivation of excited species is rapid at the pressures employed, which may be as high as several Torr. The satisfaction of these two criteria should ensure that the data obtained are those for conditions of thermal equilibrium.

Time-of-flight mass spectrometers can also provide relevant kinetic data,¹¹ although here again electric fields can be troublesome. The flow in this case occurs, of course, outside the reaction region, and decomposition of large ions during the lengthy period of flight down the mass analysis system is a distinct possibility. In principle, this decomposition could be taken advantage of in a study of the kinetics of fragmentation of clusters.

B. Static Methods

Very slow reactions, or long sequences of consecutive reactions, are difficult to study in flow systems, where the gas flow may be varied only within certain limits. For this reason, various static methods have been developed.

Many of the early observations of clustered products were made in static systems in which high-pressure ion sources were attached to conventional mass analyzers. Ionization was brought about by techniques such as field-emission^{12,13} and high-energy electron impact.¹⁴ The latter method has been developed by Field and coworkers¹⁵ into the technique of "chemical ionization", whereby traces of the neutral precursor of the desired reactant are added to several Torr of a substrate, usually CH₄. Equilibrium data obtained in this way will be discussed below.

A number of high-pressure ion sources have been constructed by Kebarle and coworkers² for the investigation of thermodynamic equilibria and reaction kinetics in cluster systems. Ionization by means of α -particles^{16,17} and by proton impact¹⁸ have both been employed in sources having ion-residence times of several milliseconds, in which it is possible for thermodynamic equilibrium to be attained. The subsequent mass analysis yields values of the equilibrium constants, $K_{\rm p}$, for the product clusters, and repetition over a range of temperatures leads to the evaluation of ΔH° , ΔS° , and ΔG° at some chosen temperature, usually 298 K, by means of a van't Hoff plot of log $K_{\rm p}$ against 1/*T*.

No kinetic information can be obtained by any of the methods so far discussed in this section, nor is it explicitly shown that the clustering reactions are, in fact, third order.

In order to measure rate constants for sequences of clustering reactions, an ion-source pulsing technique was developed by Durden and Kebarle, ^{19,20} and this has subsequently been employed in equipment capable of operating over a very wide temperature range.²¹ In this method, the ionizing beam of high-voltage electrons was switched on only in brief pulses, so that the subsequent production and decay of ions could be studied in the absence of further ionization. Pulses of product ions were admitted for mass analysis a known "delay time" after the ionization pulse^{19,20} or were identified and counted using a multichannel analyzer.²¹

These techniques permitted the calculation of rate constants for the production and removal of species involved even in highly complex reaction sequences. The use of a "field-free" ion source allowed the system to reach thermodynamic equilibrium, at least in principle.

The whole question of the attainment of equilibrium in ion sources has been the subject of some controversy,^{22,23} and K_p values differing by as much as ten orders of magnitude have been reported from different instruments.^{24,25} Such discrepancies, while not invalidating the bulk of the published data, underline the need for extreme care in the design and use of the ion source and sampling system and indicate that equilibria far removed from the ''thermal'' are easier to generate than they are to identify.

The "stationary afterglow" technique of Puckett and Lineberger²⁶ involves the production of ions by pulsed photoionization. Ions which diffuse to the walls are sampled by timeresolved mass spectrometry, and rate constants are obtained from the observed decay rates of the ions involved. Treatment of the data has to take account of the natures of the diffusion processes which the ions undergo en route to the wall.

III. Mechanism of Clustering

1+

It has been pointed out²⁰ that an ion-molecule clustering reaction is a process very similar to the combination of two atoms or two free radicals. One would expect an initial combination step, with no activation energy, brought about by ionpermanent dipole or ion-induced dipole attraction between the reactants. The energy thus liberated in the reaction complex could then be lost by collision with a third body, and we can usefully consider clustering to be an example of an 'energy-transfer'' process, with a mechanism similar to that proposed^{27,28} for radical combination:

$$A \stackrel{k_c}{\underset{k_d}{\longrightarrow}} I \cdot A^*$$
 (2)

$$I \cdot A^* + M \stackrel{k_s}{\underset{k_a}{\longrightarrow}} I \cdot A + M$$
(3)

When third-order kinetics are observed experimentally, we can say, in the usual way, that $k_d \gg k_s[M]$, and hence we obtain rate equations of the form:

forward rate =
$$k_f[I][A][M] = \frac{k_c k_s}{k_d}[I][A][M]$$
 (4)

reverse rate =
$$k_r[I \cdot A][M] = k_a[I \cdot A][M]$$
 (5)

where k_f and k_r represent the forward and reverse rate constants, respectively.

Considering the individual rate constants which combine to give $k_{\rm f}$, we expect, as discussed above, that $k_{\rm c}$ should contain no activation energy term and that it should thus be independent of temperature to a first approximation. Stabilization should depend on the identity of M; $k_{\rm s}$ may have some slight temperature dependence also, if the excess energy to be lost is distributed according to Maxwell–Boltzmann statistics.

Applying simple RRK theory to the decomposition step, we see that k_d will depend upon the dissociation energy of the complex, $D^{\circ}(I-A)$, and the internal energy, *nRT*. It has been shown²⁰ that if $D^{\circ} \gg nRT$, then

$$k_{\rm d} \propto (nRT/D)^{s-1} \tag{6}$$

where s is related to the number of vibrational degrees of freedom in the cluster.

Hence, overall, if we disregard any temperature dependence of k_c and k_s , we obtain the relationship:

$$k_{\rm f} \propto T^{(1-s)} \tag{7}$$

Thus the simple theory predicts a negative temperature dependence—an apparent "negative activation energy"—for k_f in most cases. Such a dependence is observed experimentally in many systems,²⁰ but although results have often been expressed in the form of an Arrhenius plot for convenience, they cannot of course be interpreted in such a simple way.

The discussion of the more sophisticated theories of the mechanism of clustering will be postponed until the experimental data have been considered in detail. It should, however, be noted at this stage that an alternative mechanism, analogous to the "radical-molecule complex" pathway proposed²⁸ for radical reactions, would also account for the observed reaction products and for the rate law. In such a case, the initial combination produces the species I-M*, which then undergoes "switching" with A:

$$I \cdot M^* + A \rightleftharpoons I \cdot A + M \tag{9}$$

Such a mechanism should be most important when I and A are small, perhaps atomic, species and M is a larger molecule with more degrees of freedom.²⁸ If such a process occurs, we can expect it to have an effect on the observed magnitude and temperature dependence of $k_{\rm f}$.

IV. Clustering in the Rare Gases

lon-molecule clustering has been observed in samples of all the rare gases, both in their pure states and with an excess of some second gas as third body. Mixed clusters have also been observed. Rate constants for the formation of dimer ions have been measured in a variety of experimental situations including flames,²⁹ drift tubes,³⁰ high-pressure ion sources,³¹ afterglows,^{8,32,33} and electron density decay studies.³⁴ The available rate constant data are listed in Table I.

All the methods give k_f values which are within an order of magnitude of 1(-31) at 300 K, while the data obtained at other temperatures^{32,35,36} largely display the negative temperature dependence discussed in section III. Paradoxically, this is not the verification of the simple energy-transfer mechanism that it at first appears to be, because for a diatomic cluster we would expect s in eq 7 to have a value of one, making k_f independent of 7. It would be necessary to invoke possible temperature dependences of k_c and k_s to explain the data on an energy-transfer basis.

However, as noted in section III, there is the possibility of a competing radical-molecule complex mechanism for atomic

TABLE I. Rate Constants of Clustering Reactions in the Rare Gases

I	Α	М	<i>T</i> . [°] K	$10^{31}k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹
He ⁺	He	He	76	1.7 ³⁶
			300	0.63, ³⁴ 0.84, ^b 0.35, ^c 1.10, ^d
				1.06, ³³ 1.08, ³⁰ 0.64, ^e
				0.68 <i>f</i>
Ne ⁺	He	He	300	0.07,8 0.21 ^h
	(Ne + He) ^a	He	300	3.0 ^h
(Ne∙He) ⁺	Ne	He	300	0.02 <i>i</i>
Ne ⁺	Ne	Ne	195	0.09/
			300	0.7, ³⁰ 0.42,8 0.79, ^k 0.44, ^l
				0.15 ^j
			331	0.73 ^m
			523	0.27
Ar ⁺	(Ar + Ne) ^a	Ne	300	3.0 ⁿ
	Ar	He	82	16 ³²
			290	1.332
			300	0.92, ⁿ 0.8 ^o
		Ar	293	0.8429
			296	2.07 ^p
			298	4.4, ⁸ 2 ⁹
			300	1.5, ^c 0.6, ³¹ 2.5, ^k 3.0, ^r 2.3, ^s
				3.0, ^t 0.7 ^u
			331	3.85 ^m
Kr ⁺	(Kr + Ne)	Ne	300	0.6 ⁿ
	Kr	He	300	0.64 ^v
		Kr	180	2.70 ³⁵
			300	2.3 ^w , 2.74 ³⁵
			510	1.6535
Xe ⁺	Xe	He	300	1.12 ^v
		Xe	300	3.57, ³⁵ 1.8, ^x 2.0 ^y

⁴ In these cases the total rate of disappearance of 1 was measured. ^b H. J. Oskam and V. R. Mittelstadt, *Phys. Rev.*, 132, 1435 (1963). ^c C. B. Kretschmer and H. L. Petersen, *J. Appl. Phys.*, 34, 3209 (1963). ^d R. Hackam and J. J. Lennon, *Proc. Phys. Soc., London*, 84, 133 (1964). ^e D. Smith and M. J. Copsey, *J. Phys. B*, 1, 650 (1968). ^f D. Smith, C. V. Goodall, and M. J. Copsey, *ibid.*, 1, 660 (1968). ^g G. F. Sauter, R. A. Gerber and H. J. Oskam, *Physica* (*Utrecht*), 32, 1921 (1966). ^h G. E. Veatch and H. J. Oskam, *Phys. Rev. A*, 2, 1422 (1970). ⁱ Products are Ne₂⁺ + 2He. See footnote g above. ^f R. Hackam, Br. J. Appl. Phys., 17, 197 (1966). ^k D. Smith and P. R. Cromey, J. Phys. B, 1, 638 (1968). ⁱ A. P. Vitols and H. J. Oskam, Phys. Rev. A, 5, 2618 (1972). ^m J. P. Gaur and L. M. Chanin, Phys. Rev., 182, 167 (1969). ⁿ H. J. Oskam, Phys, Rev. A, 1, 1498 (1970). ^p W. F. Liu and D. C. Conway, J. Chem. Phys., 60, 784 (1974); the authors find that the ²P_{1/2}state of Ar⁺ does not react. ^g Intermediate between second and third order: D. Hyatt and P. F. Knewstubb, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1, 68, 202 (1972). ^r J. C. Cronin and M. C. Sexton, Br. J. Appl. Phys., 1, 889 (1968). ^s W. Peterson and E. C. Beaty, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 14, 260 (1969). ^s W. Peterson and E. C. Beaty, Bull. Am. Phys. Rev. 13, 160 (1963). ^w A. K. Bhattacharya, Phys. Rev. A, 1, 1196 (1970). ^x A. K. Bhattacharya, Appl. Phys. Lett., 17, 521 (1970). ^y A. P. Vitols and H. J. Oskam, Phys. Rev. A, 8, 1860 (1973).

reactants. Also, Mahan³⁷ has been able, by assuming a charge-transfer mechanism, to calculate theoretical k_f values which are in good agreement with the experimental data as regards both magnitude and temperature dependence. The calculation will be more fully discussed in section XVII below.

No direct equilibrium studies have been made for any of the rare gas clusters. However, indirect estimates of the various bond dissociation energies have been made using a variety of techniques. Beam studies³⁸ indicate a value of 193– 232 kJ mol⁻¹ for D° (He⁺-He). Appearance potential data³⁹ have led to the estimate that D° (Ar⁺-N₂) and D° (Ar⁺-Ar) are both \geq 63 kJ mol⁻¹, while measurements of the threshold of photoionization in argon⁴⁰ have raised this lower limit to 101 for Ar₂⁺. Work in a high-pressure ion source³¹ has led to an estimate that D° (Ar⁺-Ar) lies in the range 144–192 kJ mol⁻¹, with a similar value expected for Ne₂⁺. These values were obtained by an indirect thermochemical method. Drift tube measurements⁴¹ give values of 102 and 110 for D° (Ar⁺-

TABLE II. Rates of Clustering Reactions Involving lons of Nitrogen

I	A	M	<i>T</i> , [°] K	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	Ref
N,+	N ₂	He	82	1.2(-28)	32
•	-		280	1.9(-29)	32
			300	5.6(-30)	а
		N ₂	298	8.5(-29)	58
		-		8(-29)	8
			300	5(-29)	b
				8(-29)	60
				6.2(-29)	с
N ⁺	Ν,	He	82	7.2(-29)	32
	-		280	8.6(-30)	32
			300	4.6(-29)	а
		N_2	300	3(-29)	d
		-		1.8(-29)	b
				5(-29)	60
N_2^+	Ν	N_2	3'00	2.5(-29)	е
e -	N_2	N ₂	300	3.5(—32) ^f	77

^a T. D. Mark and H. J. Oskam, *Phys. Rev. A*, **4**, 1445 (1971). ^b J. T. Moseley, Ph.D. Thesis, Georgia Institute of Technology, 1968; quoted In ref 32. ^c I. Dzidic, A. Good, and P. Kebarle, *Can. J. Chem.*, **48**, 664 (1970). ^d L. G. McKnight, K. B. McAfee, and D. P. Sipler, *Phys. Rev.*, 164, 62 (1967). ^e J. W. Dreyer and D. Perner, *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **12**, 299 (1971). ^f Reactions of this type are discussed in section V.C.

N₂) and $D^{\circ}(Ar^+-Ar)$, respectively, in line with earlier appearance potential data giving⁴² 110 and 105 kJ mol⁻¹. Clearly, more work is needed to establish reliable values for these bond strengths. No measurements have been reported for Kr₂⁺ or Xe₂⁺.

A number of theoretical calculations have been performed to estimate the bond strengths of the clusters. Values of 205^{43} and 230^{44} have been calculated as the lower limits of D° (He⁺-He), while Mulliken⁴⁵ has selected 134 kJ mol⁻¹ as the best value for D° (Ar⁺-Ar).

The ion He_3^+ has been detected in a drift tube at 76 K³⁶ and in mass spectrometers,⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹ but no quantitative data have been reported.

V. Clustering in Homonuclear Diatomic Gases

A. Hydrogen

There has been little published work on the possible clustering reactions of pure hydrogen. Drift-tube studies have led to $k_{\rm f}$ values of $3.2(-29)^{50}$ and 3.05(-29) molecule⁻² cm⁶ sec⁻¹⁵¹ at 300 K for the reaction:

$$H^+ + 2H_2 \rightleftharpoons H_3^+ + H_2$$
 (10)

The corresponding deuterium reaction had a rate constant of 3.0(-29).^{50,51} Beam studies of the binding energies of these clusters⁵² have given values of 386-415 kJ mol⁻¹ for the proton affinity of H₂ and 396-424 for the deuteron affinity of D₂. Values of this magnitude imply chemical rather than electrostatic bonding. Theoretical studies⁵³ suggest an equilateral triangular structure for H₃⁺, the length of each side being 0.088 nm, and the calculated bond strength 460 kJ mol⁻¹.

Larger clusters, in the series $H^+(H_2)_n$, have been detected in a qualitative investigation.⁵⁴ The n = 7 cluster was the major ion observed, but the precise thermodynamic state of the ions was not clear. The exothermicity of the reaction whereby H_3^+ reacts to give H_5^+ has been estimated as 21.3 kJ mol⁻¹⁵⁵; k_f was 4.5(-31) for D_5^+ formation at 296 K. A more detailed investigation⁵⁶ of the H_3^+/H_5^+ and H_5^+/H_7^+ equilibria has yielded values of respectively -8.4 and +5.9 kJ mol⁻¹ for $\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$, -40.6 and -7.5 kJ mol⁻¹ for $\Delta H^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$, and -107 and -45 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ for ΔS° .

B. Nitrogen

After an initial period of controversy, during which nitrogen ion clustering data were variously interpreted in terms of second-⁵⁷ and third-order^{8,58} kinetics, it now appears to have been conclusively established that N_4^+ is produced by a reaction of the type

$$N_2^+ + N_2 + M \rightleftharpoons N_4^+ + M \tag{11}$$

with no second-order component apparent even at pressures of above 1 Torr at room temperature. Saturation leading to second-order kinetics has, however, been reported⁵⁹ for total pressures (M = He) of greater than 0.8 Torr at 80 K.

The reported rate constants are listed in Table II. Results obtained in pure nitrogen, using the pulsed-beam technique over the temperature range 300-420 K,⁶⁰ indicated an apparent "activation energy" of -9.6 kJ mol⁻¹, while a value of -15 was estimated from drift data.⁸ The rate constant with He as third body is lower than that in pure nitrogen at the same temperature by a factor of about 5.32.60 This would be expected as a result of the greater ability of the N₂ molecule to take up the excess energy in collisions with (N₄⁺)*.

An apparent equilibrium constant of 5.7×10^4 atm⁻¹ was reported⁸ for eq 11 at 298 K. Subsequent work,⁶⁰ however, failed to detect any residual N₂⁺ at temperatures as high as 420 K. This was in agreement with the data of Varney, whose extrapolated drift-tube results⁶¹ indicated a K_p value of about 8 × 10⁶ at 420 K and gave an estimated $D^{\circ}(N_2^+-N_2)$ value of 84 kJ mol⁻¹.

The bond dissociation energy has also been estimated by other means. Appearance potential data⁴² gave a value of 121 (\pm 30), and lower limits of 50⁶² and 45⁶³ kJ mol⁻¹ were also reported.

More recently, direct studies of the equilibrium have been made using a high-pressure ion source⁶⁴ and a drift tube.⁴¹ In the temperature range 400–600 K, the measurement of log K_p as a function of temperature, followed by suitable extrapolation of the data, led to a value of 3×10^{12} for K_p at 298 K,⁶⁴ together with values of -95.4 and -71.1 kJ mol⁻¹ for ΔH^o (298 K) and ΔG^o (298 K), respectively. The drift-tube data gave a best value of 102 for D^o (N₂⁺-N₂).⁴¹ As D^o and $-\Delta H^o$ are approximately comparable, the two sets of data are in good agreement. The drift-tube work gave a value of -67.7 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ for ΔS^o at 723 K.

An alternative route for the formation of N_4^+ has been suggested by work using a monoenergetic electron beam.^{42,63} This involves the initial formation of an excited neutral molecule, which can undergo subsequent associative ionization:

$$N_2 + e^- \rightarrow N_2^* + e^- \tag{12}$$

$$N_2^* + N_2 \rightarrow N_4^+ + e^- \tag{13}$$

However, this process is unlikely to be important at the higher pressures used in the equilibrium studies^{41,64} for which collisional deactivation may be expected to be very rapid.

An SCF-MO calculation for the N₄⁺ ion has suggested that it may be linear,⁶⁵ with a calculated N₂⁺-N₂ bond length of 0.204 nm. However, as the calculated $D^{\circ}(N_2^{+}-N_2)$ value of 145 kJ mol⁻¹ is rather large when compared with the experimental values, this conclusion can only be regarded as tentative.

The ions N_6^+ and N_8^+ have been observed in a flowing afterglow at 82 K,³² but no quantitative data have been reported.

The mixed cluster N₂⁺·O₂ has been studied in the temperature range 177–249 K,⁶⁶ and the bond dissociation energy was measured as 23.1 kJ mol⁻¹; values of -23.8 kJ mol⁻¹ and -79 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ were obtained for ΔH° and ΔS° at

200 K, giving a $\Delta G^{\circ}(200 \text{ K})$ value of -8.0 kJ mol⁻¹. This cluster is clearly much more weakly bonded than is N₄⁺.

A second clustering series is found to occur in nitrogen, leading to the formation of the N_3^+ ion. The process is almost certainly third order:

$$N^+ + N_2 + M \rightleftharpoons N_3^+ + M \tag{14}$$

but this has not been conclusively established.⁶⁰ The measured rate constants, calculated on the assumption that the reaction does obey third-order kinetics, are listed in Table II. On this basis, with nitrogen as third body, it is possible to obtain an apparent "activation energy" of $-3.3 \text{ kJ mol}^{-160}$ for $k_{\rm f}$ in eq 14, but the same data were also consistent with a temperature-independent second-order rate constant of 1.3(-12) molecule⁻¹ cm³ sec⁻¹. The bond dissociation energy for N₃⁺ has been shown⁶³ to be ≥ 293 , and this large value does suggest the possibility that the lifetime of (N₃⁺)* may be long enough to cause the reaction to be second order at pressures of the order of 3 Torr. The cluster ions up to and including N₉⁺ have been detected,³² but no quantitative data are available for these larger species.

An alternative mechanism has been proposed^{63,67} for the formation of N₃⁺ at low pressures. This involves the ${}^{4}\Sigma_{u}^{+}$ state of N₂⁺, which is 305 kJ mol⁻¹ above the ground ${}^{2}\Sigma_{g}^{+}$ state⁶⁸:

$$N_2^+ (4\sum_u^+) + N_2 \rightarrow N_3^+ + N$$
 (15)

However, this species would not be present to any significant extent at pressures of the order of several Torr; indeed, it has been shown⁶⁰ that the sum of the ion intensities of the species N⁺ and N₃⁺ is a constant fraction of the total ion intensity in pure nitrogen, even at very long reaction times. A crossover reaction such as eq 15 is therefore probably ruled out as a significant contributor to the mechanism at higher pressures.

C. Oxygen

1. Positive Ion Clustering

The formation of O_4^{+69} and higher clusters⁷⁰ from O_2^{+} was initially investigated by Yang and Conway, who employed total oxygen pressures of 1–4 Torr and ion-residence times of about 1 msec to obtain K_p values for the various equilibria involved. More recent work in the same laboratory⁷¹ has extended the measurements up to total pressures of 12 Torr in the temperature range 77–362 K. Values of D° and, by extrapolation, ΔH° (298 K) and ΔS° (298 K) were obtained, and the most recent values are given in Table III. Clearly, D° and $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ (298 K) are equivalent to within the limits of reasonable experimental error. Values of ΔG° (298 K) calculated from the experimental data are also included in this table and show that clusters larger than O_4^+ will not be observed at room temperature.

This conclusion is in agreement with data obtained in a pulsed-beam ion source.²⁰ The clustering of oxygen was investigated in the pure gas²⁰ and in oxygen contaminated with traces of water vapor.⁷² No oxygen cluster larger than O_4^+ was detected at 300 K, even at pressures of several Torr. The equilibrium constant for the process

$$O_2^+ + 2O_2 \rightleftharpoons O_4^+ + O_2$$
 (16)

was in good agreement with the data of Conway and coworkers.^{69,71} One would expect further clustering only at much lower temperatures, and indeed the formation of O_6^+ has been observed in flowing-afterglow studies at 82 K.⁷³

The forward reaction in eq 16 has been shown experimentally to be third order,²⁰ although it appeared to change to

TABLE III. Thermodynamic Properties of Oxygen Cluster lons (After Conway and Janik⁷¹)

Product species	D° , kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta H^{\circ},$ kJ mol ⁻¹	$\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K}),$ kJ mol ⁻¹
O₄ ⁺	43.9	105	45.2	-12.8
0 ₆ +	27.2	133	28.8	+12.5
0 ⁺	10.7	82.8	10.6	+14.0
0,0 ⁺	10.2	100	10.3	+19.6
O_{12}^{++}	8.4	71.1	7.7	+12.8

second-order behavior at pressures above 1.6 Torr at 82 K.⁵⁹ It was possible to measure both k_f and k_r , the latter being obtained indirectly via the measured values of k_f and K_p . Rate constants obtained in this and other work are given in Table IV, which also includes data on mixed clustering involving the O_2^+ ion. Most of the data were obtained by flowing-afterglow measurements.⁷³

The $k_{\rm f}$ value for eq 16 was shown to have an apparent "activation energy" of the order of $-6~{\rm kJ~mol}^{-1}$.²⁰ The formation of O_4^+ with He as third body proceeded with a rate constant smaller by a factor of 6 than that when O_2 was third body.⁷⁴ This observation tallies with that for the nitrogen system discussed in section V.B. The subsequent reaction to give O_6^+ , also with He as third body, was found to be an order of magnitude slower than O_4^+ formation at 82 K.⁷³

No third-order rate constants involving the species O^+ have been reported at room temperature. The O_3^+ ion has been observed in the mass spectrum of ozone,⁷⁵ but the charge-transfer process

$$O^+ + O_2 \rightarrow O_2^+ + O$$
 (17)

is exothermic by about 200 kJ mol⁻¹,⁶⁸ in contrast to the situation in nitrogen, and so clustering would not be expected in this case. The reaction between O⁺ and N₂ has been observed in a flowing-afterglow experiment³² to be third order at 80 K, as listed in Table IV, but the exact mechanism is unclear as no N₂O⁺ was observed. At room temperature, the same system leads to the second-order formation of NO⁺.

2. Negative Ion Clustering

The clustering of oxygen negative ions has also been investigated and the experimental kinetic data are listed in Table V. We can regard the initial associative ionization of O_2 as the first step in the series of reactions leading to O_{2n}^- . This reaction has been extensively studied^{76,77} and has been shown to be third order and to behave as a typical ion-molecule clustering reaction, with the expected variations of k_f with third body.⁷⁶ Results obtained at different temperatures⁷⁸⁻⁸¹ seem to indicate a positive temperature dependence for k_f .

The rate constant for the formation of O_3^- has a measured "apparent activation energy" of -8 kJ mol^{-1} ,⁸² and the process is third order.^{83,84} However, in drift-tube work, where the ions are not at thermal energies, a charge exchange reaction

$$O^- + O_2 \rightarrow O_2^- + O$$
 (18)

has been reported.^{7,85} The rate constant of this reaction varied sharply with field strength, changing from 2.5(-14) at E/N = 63(-17) V cm² to 5(-11) at E/N = 300(-17).⁸⁵

The rate constant for the formation of O_4^- is seen to be an order of magnitude smaller than that for formation of O_4^+ with the same third body, but no general trends are apparent from a comparison of the kinetic data for O_2^+ and O_2^- . The two reported values of k_f for the reaction between O_2^- and $CO_2^{86,87}$ differ widely and lie on either side of the reported value for the corresponding O_2^+ reaction⁷³ even if allowance is made for the lower temperature prevailing in this last ex-

TABLE IV. Rate Constants for Oxygen Positive-Ion Clustering Reactions

TABLE V. Rate Constants for Oxygen Negative-Ion Clustering Reactions

А	М	<i>т</i> , °к	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	k_{r} , molecule ⁻¹ cm ³ sec ⁻¹	Ref
N ₂	He	82	5.4(-29)		32
O_2	He	82	3.1(—29)		32
		200	2.4(-30)		73
	-	300	5(-31)	3.6(-14)	74
	O_2	298	2.8(-30)	2.8(-13)	20
		300	2.5(-30)	1.8(-13)	/4
			1.5(-30)		162
		207	2.6(-30)		<i>a</i> 70
		307	2.4(-30)		72
	He	02 02	1.4(-31)		73
N_2	He N	200	1.9(-29)	2/-11)	73
<u> </u>		200	23(-31)	2(-11)	74
	He	200	2.3(-29) 5.2(-29)		73
	ne Lla	200	5.2(-29)		73
	He He	200	9(-29)		156
$\sqcap_2 0$	пe	290	85(-29)		73
		500	87(-29)		74
	Δr	295	2.0(-28)		156
		300	1.7(-28)		74
		000	1.2(-28)		, . Ь
	N	295	2.8(-28)		156
	••2	300	2.5(-28)		74
	0.	300	1.9(-28)		c
	02		2.3(-28)		74
		307	1(-28)		72
0,	He	82	5(-30)		73
- 2	Ο,	300	7(-32)		а
Ν,	Нé	82	1(-29)		73
N,	He	82	1(-29)		73
02	O_2	90	2.5(-29)		а
	$\begin{array}{c} A \\ \hline N_{2} \\ O_{2} \\ \\ H_{2} \\ N_{2} \\ CO_{2} \\ N_{2}O \\ SO_{2} \\ H_{2}O \\ \\ O_{2} \\ \\ N_{2} \\ O_{2} \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccc} A & M \\ \hline N_2 & He \\ O_2 & He \\ \hline O_2 & He \\ \hline N_2 & He \\ O_2 & O_2 \\ \hline O_2 & He \\ N_2 & He \\ O_2 & O_2 \\ \hline O_2 & He \\ O_2 & O_2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c cccc} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $	$\begin{array}{c ccccc} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$

^a J. D. Payzant, A. J. Cunningham, and P. Kebarle, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **59**, 5615 (1973). ^b R. C. Bolden and N. D. Twiddy, *J. Chem. Soc.*, *Discuss. Faraday Soc.*, **5**3, 192 (1973). ^c C. J. Howard, H. W. Rundle, and F. Kaufman, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, **16**, 213 (1971).

periment. There is a similar wide discrepancy between the data for the O^-/CO_2 system.^{86,88}

High-pressure studies of the formation of O_4^- in pure oxygen⁸⁹ indicate that $-\Delta H^0$ (298 K) for the forward reaction, which will be approximately equal to $D^0(O_2^--O_2)$, has a value of 56.7 kJ mol⁻¹. An SCF-MO calculation⁶⁵ yielded a value of 35.5 kJ mol⁻¹. Equilibrium studies have also been made of the clustering series involving the ions $O_2^-(H_2O)_n^{82,90.91}$, $O_2^-(CH_3OH)_n^{92}$ and $O_2^-(CH_3CN)_n^{.92}$ The thermodynamic data obtained are listed in Table VI. The results indicate that methanol is bound slightly more strongly than H₂O in the initial solvation step, but that thereafter hydration is energetically preferred; CH₃CN is bound less strongly.

3. General Comments

The flowing-afterglow method has been used⁷³ to investigate possible switching reactions of the type:

$$I \cdot A + B \rightarrow I \cdot B + A \tag{19}$$

The occurrence of such a process implies that the reaction is exothermic and hence that $D^{\circ}(I-B) > D^{\circ}(I-A)$, if the reactants are at thermal energies. The results indicated that the value of $D^{\circ}(O_2^+-A)$ varied with A in the sequence $H_2O > SO_2 > N_2O > O_2 > N_2 > H_2$, while for O_2^--A the order was $NO > CO_2 > H_2O > O_2 > N_2O$, N_2 , CO. Experimental and theoretical values of some of these bond dissociation energies are given in Table XXIII, and such experimental data as are available are in agreement with the quoted sequences.

I	А	М	Т, °К	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	$k_{\rm r}$, molecule ⁻¹ cm ³ sec ⁻¹	Ref
e-	O ₂	He N ₂ O ₂	300 300 477 77 113 195 200 300	7.5(-32) $1.1(-31)$ $1.3(-31)$ $<1(-30)$ $7.2(-31)$ $2.0(-30)$ $1.5(-30)$ $2.8(-30)$ $2.1(-30)$ $2.4(-30)$ $2.0(-30)$ $2.1(-30)$		76 76 79 78 80 78 80 78 80 78 76 77 79
0-	O ₂	(4N ₂ :1O ₂) H ₂ O CO ₂ O ₂	370 300 300 300 298 300	5.6(-30) 2.1(-30) 3.1(-30) 1.1(-31) 1.4(-29) 3.1(-30) 1.1(-30) 9.0(-31) 7.5(-31) 7.8(-31) 1.0(-30) 1.2(-30)		<i>a</i> <i>b</i> 80 78 <i>a</i> 81 81 84 83 <i>c</i> <i>d</i> 7
	N_2 H_2O CO_1	He O2 He	310 82 200 300 200	1.2(-30) 1.4(-30) 9(-31) 1.3(-30) 4(-32) 1.0(-28) 2.6(-28)		e 82 85 247 73 e 73
O ₂ ⁻	N ₂ O O ₂	$ \begin{array}{c} O_2\\ CO_2\\ N_2O\\ He\\ O_2\\ \end{array} $	280 300 298 298 300 298 200 298 200	$\begin{array}{c} 1.5(-28) \\ 1.5(-28) \\ 3.1(-28) \\ 1.1(-27) \\ 9(-29) \\ 4.2(-29) \\ 3.4(-31) \\ 3(-31) \\ 3(-31) \end{array}$	7(-15)	247 86 88 88 86 f 73 84
	N ₂ CO CO ₂	He CO ₂ He O ₂ CO ₂	315 200 298 200 300 298 300	(-31) 3.5(-31) 5.1(-31) 3(-31) 4(-32) <1(-30) 4.7(-29) 2(-29) 1.2(-28) 9(-30) 1.6(-28)	2(-14)	e g 82 h 73 87 73 86 87 86
0, ^{-,} H,0	H ₂ O	0 ₂	300 298	3(-28) 5.4(-28)	1.1(-14)	е 82
O ₂ ⁻ (H ₂ O) ₂ O ₃ ⁻	H_2O N_2 H_2O	$\begin{array}{c} O_2\\N_2\\O_2\end{array}$	300 298 300 300	$\begin{array}{c} 4(-28) \\ 2.2(-11)^{i} \\ <1.5(-31) \\ 2.1(-28) \end{array}$	7.1(—15) 3.5(3) ⁱ	е 82 ј е

^a M. N. Hirsch, P. N. Eisner, and J. A. Slevin, *Phys. Rev.*, 178, 175 (1969). ^b D. Spence and G. J. Schultz, *Phys. Rev. A*, 5, 724 (1972). ^c E. C. Beaty, L. M. Branscomb, and P. L. Patterson, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, 9, 535 (1964). ^d J. H. Wealton and S. B. Woo, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 20, 1137 (1968). ^e J. L. Pack and A. V. Phelss, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, 16, 214 (1971). ^f D. A. Parkes, *J. Chem. Soc.*, Faraday Trans. 1, 68, 2103 (1972). ^g F. K. Truby, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, 16, 1341 (1971). ⁱ L. G. McKnight and J. M. Sawina, *Phys. Rev. A*, 4, 1043 (1971). ⁱ k_f is second order and k_f first order. ^j E. C. Ferguson, *Can. J. Chem.*, 47, 1815 (1969); products unidentified.

Theoretical investigations of the structures of O_4^{\pm} have been performed using SCF-MO methods.⁶⁵ The derived $D^{\circ}(O_2^+-O_2)$ value of 48.8 kJ mol⁻¹ is in good agreement

TABLE VI. Thermodynamic Data for the Equilibria: $O_2^{-}(X)_n + X \neq O_2^{-}(X)_{n+1}$

x	n	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$ (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	-ΔH°. (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. (298 K). J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹	Ref
H ₂ O	0	12.5	18.4	20.1	90
	1	9.7	17.2	25.1	
	2	7.0	15.4	28.2	
сн,он	0	12.5	19.1	21.9	92
5	1	8.1	15.5	24.8	
	2	5.2	13.5	27.9	
CH,CN	0	11.2	16.4	17.4	92
5	1	7.7	14.2	22.0	
	2	4.5	11.9	24.7	
	3	2.8	9.5	22.4	

with the experimental data given in Table III, whereas the calculated value for the negative ion, given above, is rather low. Unlike the N₄⁺ species, both oxygen clusters are calculated to be nonlinear; "chair" configurations are predicted in each case. One terminal O–O bond is at an angle θ below the central O–O bond, while the other is in the same plane, at an angle θ above the central bond. The angle θ is calculated to be 67° for O₄⁺ and 71° for O₄⁻. The computed length of the central O–O bond is 0.203 nm for O₄⁺ and 0.208 nm for O₄⁻, the other bonds in each case being assumed to be equal in length to those in neutral oxygen.

VI. Clustering in Oxides of Nitrogen

A. Nitric Oxide

A great deal of work on the solvation of nitric oxide has been reported recently. Interest has derived largely from the possible role of NO⁺ in the D region of the ionosphere. As it has the lowest ionization potential of any of the major neutral components of the upper atmosphere, nitric oxide should play an important part in the observed^{93–95} conversion of the initially formed positive ions into hydrated proton clusters. Accordingly, most work has investigated the reactions of NO⁺ with neutral NO^{96–98} or with water.^{99–102} The kinetic data for positive ions are listed in Table VII, which also includes results for clusters in the upper atmosphere has been discussed by Fehsenfeld and Ferguson.¹⁰⁵

There is a clear discrepancy between the various $k_{\rm f}$ values reported for pure NO. The higher value of $k_{\rm f}^{97,98}$ seems at present to be preferable, especially when the data with N₂ as third body¹⁰² are also considered. The stationary-afterglow experiments⁹⁶ may be affected by wall processes¹⁰⁶ and the presence of significant amounts of non-ground-state species.

The data on the hydration of NO⁺, on the other hand, display considerable consistency when results from the various laboratories are compared. The expected third-body effects are by and large displayed, with He the least efficient of the media used, though it is hard to find any a priori reason why N₂ should consistently prove more efficient as a third body than O₂, unless this is due to differences in polarizability (see section XVII). The excellent agreement found for k_f is not repeated in the reported k_r values. Many of these are obtained via observed K_p values, and the variations may reflect the problems of attaining true thermodynamic equilibrium in an ion source, as discussed in section II.B.

A number of "switching" reactions have been observed in systems involving NO⁺ ions.¹⁰³ The data are insufficient to establish a sequence of bond strengths such as that obtained for O_2^+ ,⁷³ but the ion NO⁺·CO₂ has been seen to undergo switching with H₂O, NO, and NH₃, indicating that these three molecules are more strongly bound. All the rate constants

were second order, with values ${\sim}10^{-9}~\text{molecule}^{-1}~\text{cm}^3~\text{sec}^{-1}.$

The kinetic data involving the NO⁻ ion are given in Table VIII. Results for associative ionization of NO with a free electron, $^{107-109}$ which may be regarded as the first step of the clustering sequence, are also included. Parkes and Sugden¹¹⁰ have suggested that these reported values for k_f may be too low, as a result of a competing detachment process. Only one study of the subsequent reaction giving N₂O₂⁻ has been reported, ¹¹⁰ and the product ion was found to react giving NO₂⁻ as the ultimate product.

A feature of the data is the relative complexity of the reaction pathways. The system $NO^-/CO_2/N_2O$, for example, has at least three possible ionic products formed via third-order kinetics,¹¹¹ in addition to parallel second-order processes. The reactions are

$$NO^{-} + CO_2 + N_2O \rightarrow NO^{-} \cdot CO_2 + N_2O$$
⁽²⁰⁾

$$\rightarrow CO_3^- + N_2 + NO$$
 (21)

$$\rightarrow NO^{-} N_2 O + CO_2 \tag{22}$$

and rate constants for eq 20 and eq 21 are given in Table VIII.

B. Nitrogen Dioxide

The clusters $NO_2^+(H_2O)$ and $NO_2^+(H_2O)_2$ have been reported in corona discharge experiments,¹¹² but most work has been done on the negative ion.

The kinetics of hydration of the NO₂⁻ ion have been studied by Puckett and Lineberger^{96,113} and by Payzant et al.,¹¹⁴ and the $k_{\rm f}$ and $k_{\rm r}$ values obtained are included in Table VIII for the reactions

$$NO_2^- + H_2O + M \rightleftharpoons NO_2^-(H_2O) + M$$
(23)

with He, Ar, NO, and O₂ as third body.

The data lead to a K_p value for eq 23 of 1.3×10^6 atm⁻¹ at 300 K, while for the second hydration step K_p was measured as 1.62×10^{20} .¹¹⁴

Kebarle et al.^{91,115} have also reported equilibrium data for the hydration series NO₂⁻(H₂O)_n. The values of $-\Delta H^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$ were 59.8, 53.9, and 43.5 kJ mol⁻¹ for the formation of the n= 1, 2, and 3 clusters, respectively. The corresponding values of $-\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$ and $-\Delta S^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$ were 33.5, 24.2, and 16.9 kJ mol⁻¹ and 87.7, 99, and 88.7 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹, respectively.

C. Clustering around the NO₃⁻ Ion

The first hydration step of NO₃⁻ has been studied by Payzant et al.¹¹⁴ using O₂ as third body. The kinetic data are included in Table VIII. Values of $-\Delta H^{\circ}$, $-\Delta G^{\circ}$, and $-\Delta S^{\circ}$, all at 298 K, have been measured¹¹⁵ and are respectively, in the usual units, 51.8, 27.8, and 79.9. lonospheric studies¹¹⁶ indicate that ions of the series NO₃⁻(H₂O)_n, with *n* in the range 0–5, are the dominant negative ions in the region below 90 km altitude.

The only other reaction to have been studied is the solvation with HCI¹¹⁷:

$$NO_3^- + HCI + Ar \rightarrow NO_3^- + HCI + Ar$$
 (24)

The kinetic data are quoted in Table VIII.

VII. Clustering in Oxides of Carbon

The data from a single reported study of positive-ion clustering in pure CO¹¹⁸ give k_f and k_r values of 1.43(-28) and 2.1(-12) at 340 K, with K_p having a value of 2.2 atm⁻¹ at this temperature. Values of -117 and -20.6 kJ mol⁻¹ were also reported for ΔH^o (340 K) and ΔG^o (340 K).

TABLE VII. Rate Constants for Nitric Oxide Positive-Ion Clustering Reactions

Α.	Good

I	А	М	<i>T</i> , [°] K	$k_{\rm f}$. molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	$k_{\rm r}$, molecule ⁻¹ cm ³ sec ⁻¹	Ref
NO ⁺	NO	NO	293	5(—30)	5(—16)	96
			300	3.3(-29)		97
				3(—29)		98
		N ₂	300	8.7(—30)		102
	N ₂	He	200	<5(—33)		103
		N ₂	300	3.5(—31)		104
				2.4(-31)		а
	co	сo	300	1.9(—30)		а
	O ₂	He	200	<6(—34)		103
		Ar	200	<2(—32)		103
		O ₂	300	<4(—32)		а
	CO2	He	197	1.0(—29)		103
			235	7.2(—30)		103
			290	4(—30)		103
		Ar	196	3.1(-29)		103
			214	2.4(-29)		103
		N ₂	200	2.5(-29)		103
		CŌ,	300	2.4(-29)		а
	H ₂ O	NO	300	1.5(-28)		96
	-			1.6(-28)		99
		NO/H ₂ O ^b	293	1.3(-28)		171
		He	300	3.6(-29)		100
		Ar	300	7.8(-29)		100
				1.6(-28)		100
				1.4(-28)		101
				1.8(-28)		102
		O ₂	300	8.6(-29)		100
	N ₂ O	N ₂ O	300	2.5(-29)		а
	SÔ,	M ^c	300	2.5(-28)		а
	CH ₃ OH	Μ	300	8.0(—28)		d
$NO^+(H_2O)$	H ₂ Õ	NO	300	1.1(—27)	1.4(-14)	99
-	-	NO/H_2O^b	293	1.2(-27)	<2(—13)	171
		He	300	3(—28)	<1(—13)	100
		Ar	300	8(—28)	<1(—13)	100
		N ₂	300	1.0(—27)	<1(-13)	100
				1.2(—27)	1.7(-14)	101
				1(—27)	5(—14)	102
		O ₂	300	8(—28)	1.0(-14)	100
NO ⁺ (CH₃OH)	CH3OH	M	300	1.9(—27)		d
$NO^{+}(H_{2}O)_{2}$	H₂O	NO	300	1.0(—27)	1.9(—12)	99
		NO/H_2O^b	293	3.6(—27)	<4(—12)	171
		He	300	4(—28)	2.7(—13)	100
		Ar	300	1.5(—27)	1(—12)	100
		N ₂	300	2.0(—27)	1.3(-12)	100
				1.4(—27)	1.4(-12)	101
				1(—27)	3.4(-12)	102
		O ₂	300	9(—28)	8(—13)	100
$NO^+(CH_3OH)_2$	CH₃OH	М	300	2(—27)		d

^a J. A. Vanderhoff and J. M. Heimerl, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, **18**, 804 (1973). ^b NO/H₂O present in 1:1 ratio. ^c Identity of M not specified. ^d D. L. Turner and L. I. Bone, *J. Phys. Chem.*, **78**, 501 (1974); M was a mixture of varying proportions of NO and CH₃OH.

Third-order processes have also been detected in partly ionized samples of carbon suboxide¹¹⁹ and involve the ion $C_5O_2^+$. A variety of products were observed, none of which, however, can be regarded as the result of clustering:

 $C_5O_2^+ + 2C_3O_2 \rightarrow C_6O_2^+ + 2CO + C_3O_2$ (25)

$$\rightarrow C_7 O_2^+ + 4CO \tag{26}$$

$$\rightarrow C_8 O_2^+ + 2CO + CO_2 \tag{27}$$

$$\rightarrow C_9 O_2^+ + 2 C O_2 \tag{28}$$

Studies on carbon dioxide in the same laboratory¹²⁰ have shown that clustering occurs, producing $C_2O_4^+$. However, the reaction is fourth order, with a rate constant, in pure CO₂, of 1(-43) molecule⁻³ cm⁹ sec⁻¹. The authors attempt to ex-

plain this observation on the basis of a Langevin-type theory of ionic mobility. The same reaction has been $observed^{59,121}$ to "saturate" and show second-order kinetics at 277 K. An example of fourth-order clustering in benzene will be discussed in section XIV.F.

VIII. Solvation of Metal lons

A. Alkali Metals 1. Hydration

There have been a number of studies by Kebarle and coworkers^{91,122,123} of the thermodynamic properties of the equilibria

$$X^{+}(H_{2}O)_{n} + H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons X^{+}(H_{2}O)_{n+1}$$
 (29)

TABLE VIII. Rate Constants for Negative-Ion Clustering Reactions in Oxides of Nitrogen

I	A	м	<i>т</i> , °к	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	$k_{\rm r}$. molecule ⁻¹ cm ³ sec ⁻¹	Ref
e -	NO	NO	298	$2.2(-31)^{a}$		107
			300	1.3(-31)		108
				6.8(-32)		109
				1-2(-31)		110
NO-	NO	NO	293	7.6(—30) ^b		110
	N_2O	Ar	193	7.1(—30)		е
		N_2O	300	8.5(—30)		f
	CO_2	Ar	193	3.6(—29)		е
		N_2O	300	1.5(—28) ^c		111
				1.0(—27) ^d		111
		CO_2	300	7.5(—29)		111
NO ₂ ⁻	H₂O	He	300	2.9(—29)	5.6(-16)	114
		Ar	300	6.0(—29)	1.1(—15)	114
		NO	300	1.2(—28)		96
				1.3(—28)		113
		O2	300	8.4(—29)	1.6(—15)	114
$NO_{2}^{-}(H_{2}O)$	H₂O	O_2	300	3.8(—29)	5.8(—14)	114
NO ₃ -	H₂O	O 2	300	7.5(—29)	1.4(-14)	114
	HCI	Ar	289	5(—28)		117

 ${}^{a}k_{1}$ increased steadily above 10 Torr. b Total k_{f} for formation of NO₂ and N₂O₂^{-. c} Rate constant for eq 20. d Rate constant for eq 21. b R. Marx, G. Mauclaire, F. C. Fensenfeld, D. B. Dunkin, and E. E. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys., **58**, 3267 (1973). J A parallel second-order reaction giving NO₂⁻⁺ + N₂ had a k_{f} value of 2.8(-14): D. A. Parkes, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1, **68**, 2103 (1972).

where X is an alkali metal, and *n* has values of from 0 to 5. The usual van't Hoff treatment gave the thermodynamic data listed in Table IX. The smoothness of the general trends of these values gives no indication of the starting of a "second shell" of water molecules around the central ion. Such a shell would be expected to be accompanied by a discontinuity in the values of the thermodynamic properties. However, no ions containing more than six water molecules were observed, and it may be that this corresponded to the completion of the inner shell; certainly one would not expect alkali metals to exhibit coordination numbers of greater than 6. The magnitudes of $-\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ for a particular *n* value correlate fairly well with the ionization potentials of the alkali metals, which are in turn inversely proportional to the ionic radii.

Some calculations of the expected energies of these hydrated alkali metal ions have been carried out.^{91,123,124} As the methods are generally applicable, they will be briefly discussed here. If E_n is defined as the total energy difference between the cluster ion and the system in which the metal ion and the ligands are at infinite separation, then we have

$$E_n = E_{\rm IPD} + E_{\rm IID} + E_{\rm D} + R_{\rm DD} + R_{\rm E}$$
(30)

where $E_{\rm IPD}$ and $E_{\rm IID}$ represent ion-permanent and ion-induced dipole attraction energies, respectively, calculated using a point charge model.^{125,126} $E_{\rm D}$ is the attraction energy due to dispersion forces calculated by the method of Muirhead-Gould and Laidler.¹²⁷ $R_{\rm DD}$ represents the permanent dipole repulsion between adjacent solvated water molecules, together with the various permanent-induced and induced-induced dipole repulsions. Finally, $R_{\rm E}$ is the electronic repulsion between the various molecules, calculated using a distance term and a proportionality constant obtained indirectly from rare gas data.¹²⁸ The appropriate Stokes radii¹²⁹ were used for the various central ions.

In practice, it was necessary to obtain $R_{\rm E}$ empirically from the experimental value of $-\Delta H^{\rm o}$ with n = 0. The relative $E_{\rm n}$ values were then in good agreement with the experimental data. This agreement lends support to the supposed structure used in the calculations, in which the water molecules are arranged with their lone pairs toward X⁺, the center of which lies on the extrapolated bisector of the H–O–H bond angle. These results are important because they show that a theory based on classical electrostatics can be quite successful in interpreting clustering data. Recent calculations^{130,131} have used more sophisticated methods to evaluate the individual terms in eq 30 and give $-\Delta H^{\rm o}$ values which are in good agreement with the experimental data, with respect to both magnitude and general trend.

Kinetic data on this hydration system are relatively sparse. Values of $k_{\rm f}$ were obtained in a drift tube¹³² for the initial hydration step

$$X^{+} + H_2O + M \rightarrow X^{+} H_2O + M$$
(31)

where X was Na or K and M was He or H₂O. These data are included in Table X, together with data for the corresponding reaction for Cs⁺. 133

2. Other Solvation Data

Clustering of Li⁺, Na⁺, K⁺, and Rb⁺ with hydrogen and neon have all been reported, ¹³⁴ although no quantitative information was obtained. Strong clustering was observed only for ions with six or fewer solvent molecules. Larger clusters were present in very low intensity, suggesting the possibility of a second shell starting at this point.

TABLE IX. Thermodynamic Properties of the Equilibria: $X^+(H_2O)_n + H_2O \Rightarrow X^+(H_2O)_{n+1}$

				n					·
Х		0	1	2	3	4	5	$IP(X)^{a}$	Ref
Li ⁺	$-\Delta G^{\circ b}$	107	79	55.6	31.4	18.8	10.4	520	123
	$-\Delta H^{\circ b}$	(142) ^d	108	86.6	68.6	58.2	50.6		
	$-\Delta S^{\circ c}$	117	97	104	125	132	136		
Na ⁺	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	73.6	55.2	38.9	26.3	16.3	11.7	497	123
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	100	82.8	66.1	57.7	51.5	44.8		
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	88.6	92.6	91.0	106	118	111		
К+	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	47.6	37.2	26.4	18.4	13.4	9.6	418	122
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	74.9	67.4	55.2	49.4	44.8	41.8		
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	91.3	102	98	105	107	108		
Rb ⁺	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	40.1	29.3	20.9	15.9	11.7		403	123
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	66.5	56.9	51.1	46.9	43.9			
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	88.9	92.6	101	104	108			
Cs+	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	33.0	24.7	17.6	12.6			375	123
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	57.3	52.3	46.9	44.3				
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	81.6	92.5	97.0	105				

^{*a*} Taken from ref 68; expressed in kJ mol⁻¹. ^{*b*} In kJ mol⁻¹ at 298 K. ^{*c*} In J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ at 298 K. ^{*d*} Obtained by extrapolation.

TABLE A. Rate Constants for Metal Solvation Reaction	TABL	.E)	κ.	Rate	Constants	for	Metal	Solvation	Reaction
--	------	------	----	------	-----------	-----	-------	-----------	----------

				$k_{\rm f.}$ molecule $^{-2}$	k_r , molecule ⁻¹	
I	А	М	<i>T</i> , [°] K	cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	cm ³ sec ⁻¹	Ref
Li+	Ar	Ar	319	1.8(—31)	2.0-3.2(-13) ^a	137
	N ₂	He	296	8.0(-31)		141
		N ₂	300	2(30)		135
	CO ₂	He	296	1.6(-29)		141
	SO ₂	He	296	1.8(-28)		141
	NH ₃	He	296	2.1(-28)		141
	CH₄	He	296	5.1(-30)		141
	CH₃F	He	296	8.4(-28)		141
	CH,CI	He	296	6.7(-28)		141
	CH ₃ Br	He	296	8.0(-28)		141
	CF4	He	296	3.5(-29)		141
	CF3H	He	296	5.9(-28)		141
	CF ₃ Br	He	296	8.2(-28)		141
		He	296	1.8(-27)		141
		He	296	3.2(-27)		141
	CHF ₂ CI	He	296	1.4(-27)		141
	C ₂ H ₄	He	296	1.9(-28)		141
	C_2H_6	He	296	2.3(-28)		141
	C ₂ H ₃ F	He	296	3.5(-27)		141
	C ₂ H ₃ CI	He	296	$\sim 5(-27)$		141
	C ₂ H ₃ Br	He	296	$\sim 8.4(-27)$		141
	(1,1)C ₂ H ₂ F ₂	He	296	2.5(-27) ^b		141
		Ar	296	4.0(-27) ^b		141
Na ⁺	0 ₂	02	310	5(-32)	8(—13)	140
	H ₂ O	He	300	4.7(-30)		132
		H₂O	300	1.0(-28)		132
	CO_2	CO_2	310	2(-29)	$1(-14)^{c}$	140
Na ⁺ ·CO ₂	CO ₂	CO ₂	310	5(-29)	5(-13) ^c	140
K+	0 ₂	Ar	300	<2(-31)		d
	H ₂ O	He	300	2.6(-30)		132
		H ₂ O	300	4.5(-29)	0.54 1010	132
<u>^</u> +			310	4(-30)	2.5(-13) ^e	139
Cs ⁺	H ₂ O	N ₂	300	2(-29)		133
		Ar	300	2.5(-30)		143
Mg²+	Ar	He	296	3.1(-30)		144
		He	296	1.9(-29)		144
	00	He	296	4.7(-29)		144
0.+	CO_2	He	296	3.1(-27)		144
Car	O_2	He	296	$\sim 2(-30)$		144
	CO	Ar	300	0.0(-30)		143
C - 2 +	0	He	290	2.7(-30)		144
Carr	Ar	He	290	$\sim 1(-30)$		144
		He	290	0.2(144
		He	290	0.9(−30) ≈5(−28)		144
		He	290	20(-20)		144
	0	He	296	2.0(-29)		144
		He	296	1.1(-27)		144
D_+		He	290	2.3(-27)		1/1/
⊐a □-2+		ne Lie	290	2.0(-30)		144
Ba*'		He	290	~1.0(-30)		144
		ne Li-	290	3(-30) 1 1/291		144
		rie Lie	290	1.1(-20)		144
		He	296	$\sim 3(-30)$		144
		ne Lie	290	1.1(-20)		144
∽ _+		ne Ar	290	~ 1.9(-20)		144
re Hat		Ar	300	1.0(-30)		143 176
ng'	ng	ne Lic	400	1./(-31)		140
		ng	400	1(-31)		140

^{*a*} For E/N values of 9 to 24(-17) \vee cm². ^{*b*} Mixed order at higher pressures. ^{*c*} E/N value 12(-17) \vee cm². ^{*d*} E. E. Ferguson and F. C. Fehsenfeld, *J. Geophys. Res.*, 73, 6215 (1968). ^{*e*} For E/N values of 6 to 21(-17) \vee cm².

The clustering of Li⁺ with the rare gases, O₂, N₂, NO, and CO₂ has been observed in drift tubes;^{135–138} solvation of Na⁺ and K⁺ with CO₂ has also been reported.^{139,140}

obtained for $D^{\circ}(Li^+-X)$ in the cases X = He, Ne, and Ar, respectively. Similarly, $D^{\circ}(Na^+-X)$ was <10.6, 16.4, and 18.4, for X = Ne, Ar, and Kr; $D^{\circ}(K^+-X)$ was 10.6 and 11.6 for X = Ar and Kr, and $D^{\circ}(Cs^+-Ar)$ was 8.7 kJ mol⁻¹.

The bond strengths of the species containing an alkali metal ion and a single rare gas molecule have recently been measured.¹³⁶ Values of <6.8, 12.6, and 24.2 kJ mol⁻¹ were

An extensive study of clustering around the $\rm Li^+$ ion has been carried out by Spears and Ferguson 141 Their data, to-

TABLE XI. Thermodynamic Data^{*a*} for the Equilibria: $Pb^+(H_2O)_n + H_2O \Rightarrow Pb^+(H_2O)_{n+1}$

п	$-\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K}),$ kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$, kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ},$ J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹
0	48.9	93.6	149
1	39.0	70.5	106
2	25,9	51.0	84.5
3	19.3	45.2	87.0
4	13.8	41.8	93.2
5	10.5	40.2	98.8

a From ref 146.

gether with rate constants observed in the work discussed above, are listed in Table X. In addition to the tabulated data, Spears and Ferguson also reported that the clusterings of Li⁺ with H₂C₃H₂, H₃CC₂H, and C₃H₈ were "mixed" second- and third-order processes. Clustering with c-C₄F₈, (1,2)C₂F₄Cl₂, C₂F₆, C₄H₁₀, (1,1)C₂H₄F₂, and C₂F₃Cl were all observed to be second order at 0.25 Torr, although the observed rate constants differed when He was replaced by Ar as "third body". Presumably the size of these solvating species results in a longer lived activated complex.

The Cs⁺ ion did not undergo any detectable reaction with N₂, O₂, or Ar at 310 K,¹³² indicating a $k_{\rm f}$ value in each case of <3(-34).

B. Other Metal lons

The role of metallic ions in the upper atmosphere has recently been reviewed,¹⁴² and most of the reported data have been obtained with this topic in mind. Flowing-afterglow methods have yielded most of the data for alkaline earths, both singly^{143,144} and doubly¹⁴⁴ charged and for the other ions¹⁴⁵ listed in Table X. In three cases, it is possible to compare k_f values and, as might be expected, the doubly charged ions react more rapidly with particular solvent molecules than do the corresponding monovalent ions.

The hydration of the monovalent lead ion has been studied¹⁴⁶ in the temperature range 275–420 K. The data are given in Table XI and show the familiar smooth trend with increasing cluster size. The same is true of the D° values reported¹⁴⁷ for Bi⁺(H₂O)_n. For values of *n* from 1 to 6 respectively, D° was measured as 95.2, 73.8, 58.5, 50.1, 43.8, and 40.5 kJ mol⁻¹. The Bi⁺(NH₃)_n series had D° values of 148, 96.8, and 56.0 kJ mol⁻¹, for values of *n* in the range 1 to 3. The high strength of bonding for the first two NH₃ molecules could not be explained on electrostatic grounds alone.

Free energy measurements have been reported¹⁴⁴ for a number of equilibria of the type

$$Ca^{2+}(X)_n + X + He \rightleftharpoons Ca^{2+}(X)_{n+1} + He$$
 (32)

Values of -32 and -19 kJ mol⁻¹ were obtained for $\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$ for the case X = O_2 and for values of *n* of 1 and 5, respectively. Values of -19 and -34 were found for n = 6 and X = N_2 and CO_2 , respectively. For the equilibrium

$$Ca^{2+} \cdot CaCO_3(CO_2)_4 + CO_2 + He \rightleftharpoons Ca^{2+} \cdot CaCO_3(CO_2)_5 + He \quad (33)$$

the free energy change was -25 kJ mol^{-1} .

IX. Clustering around Halide lons

Thermodynamic data for the equilibria

$$X^{-}(H_2O)_n + H_2O \rightleftharpoons X^{-}(H_2O)_{n+1}$$
 (34)

have been reported by Kebarle and coworkers^{91,125,148,149} for values of *n* of up to 4 in the cases X = F, Cl. Br, and I.

TABLE XII. Thermodynamic Data for the Halide Equilibria: $X^{-}(H_2O)_n + H_2O \Rightarrow X^{-}(H_2O)_{n+1}$ (from Arshadi et al.¹⁴⁸)

				n		
х		0.	1	2	3	4
F	$-\Delta G^{\circ a}$	75.5	46.0	31.8	23.0	29.7
	$-\Delta H^{\circ a}$	97.5	69.5	57.3	56.5	55.2
	$-\Delta S^{\circ b}$	72.8	78.2	85.4	112 ^c	86.5¢
CI	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	34.3	27.2	18.8	14.2	
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	54.8	53.1	49.0	46.4	
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	69.0	87.0	97.1	108	
Br	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	29.3	23.0	17.1	12.1	
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	52.7	51.5	48.1	45.6	
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	77.0	95.8	104	112	
I I	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	22.6	17.6	12.9		
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	42.7	41.0	39.3		
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	68.2	79.5	89.1		

^{*a*} In kJ mol⁻¹ at 298 K. ^{*b*} In J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ at 298 K. ^{*c*} These quantities have been corrected to allow for apparent typographical errors in ref 148.

TABLE XIII. Thermodynamic Data^{*a*} for the Equilibria: $X^{-}(CH_{3}CN)_{n} + CH_{3}CN \Rightarrow X^{-}(CH_{3}CN)_{n+1}$

				n		
x		0	1	2	3	4
F	$-\Delta G^{\circ b}$	50.2	35.5	26.8	18.8	13.0
	$-\Delta H^{\circ b}$	66.8	53.9	48.8	43.5	22.2
	$-\Delta S^{\circ c}$	56.0	61.9	74.8	81.9	30.9
CI	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	38.5	27.6	19.2	12.5	
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	56.0	51.0	44.3	25.9	
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	59.8	79.0	84.2	45.2	
Br	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	33.5	24.3	15.1	9.2	
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	53.9	49.3	41.8	23.0	
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	69.0	85.3	90.6	45.5	
1	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$	26.8	18.0	11.3		
	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$	49.7	43.9	38.9		
	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$	76.0	87.0	92.5		

^{*a*} From ref 152. ^{*b*} In kJ mol⁻¹ at 298 K. ^{*c*} In J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ at 298 K.

The data are listed in Table XII. The observed trends are similar to those already discussed for the alkali metal ions¹⁵⁰ and calculated $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ values^{130,131} are in good agreement with the data.

The only reported kinetic studies of this system, for the case where X = Cl and n = 0, have led to k_f values of 3.4(-29) at 293 K (M = NO)^{96,113} and 1(-29) at 308 K, with M = O₂.¹⁵¹ The reactions of F⁻ with He as third body have been studied at 300 K;¹⁴¹ k_f values of 5.5(-28), 1.3(-29), and 2.9(-29) were observed for SO₂, NH₃, and CO₂ "solvents", respectively. The F⁻(SO₂)₂ ion was also observed.

The equilibria

$$X^{-}(CH_{3}CN)_{n} + CH_{3}CN \rightleftharpoons X^{-}(CH_{3}CN)_{n+1}$$
(35)

have also been studied.¹⁵² Table XIII gives the reported data, and comparison of $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ values between Tables XII and XIII indicates a rather complex variation of the solvation "preferences" of the halide ions at different stages of solvation. Only for F⁻, where hydration is always energetically preferred, is the situation clear-cut. For the other ions, a slight initial tendency to prefer solvation with CH₃CN changes to a distinct preference for hydration at $n \geq 2$.

The effect of acidity of solvent on the thermodynamics of the equilibrium

$$CI^- + RH \rightleftharpoons CI^- RH \qquad (36)$$

TABLE XIV. Effect^{*a*} of Acidity on the Equilibria: Cl⁻(RH)_{*n*} + RH \Rightarrow Cl⁻(RH)_{*n*+1}

n	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$. (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta H^{\circ}.$ (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. (298 K), J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹
0	34.3	54.8	68.8
1	26.8	50.2	79.0
0	41.0	59.0	61.9
1	30.1	54.3	81.5
0	46.5	59.3	43.1
1	32.2	56.0	80.3
0	45.2	63.5	61.9
0	61.9	81.0	64.8
1	47.2	77.3	102
0	66.0	90.3	80.5
0	97.8	155	166
0	~14.2	~23	~30.5
0	46.0	72.3	76.9
1	33.9	62.7	97.4
	n 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	$\begin{array}{c} -\Delta G^{\circ} \\ (298 \text{ K}), \\ \text{kJ mol}^{-1} \\ \hline 0 & 34.3 \\ 1 & 26.8 \\ 0 & 41.0 \\ 1 & 30.1 \\ 0 & 46.5 \\ 1 & 32.2 \\ 0 & 45.2 \\ 0 & 61.9 \\ 1 & 47.2 \\ 0 & 66.0 \\ 0 & 97.8 \\ 0 & \sim 14.2 \\ 0 & 46.0 \\ 1 & 33.9 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

^a From ref 2 and 148.

has been investigated.¹⁴⁹ The data, which are given in Table XIV, indicate a distinct correlation between acidity and the magnitudes of $-\Delta H^{o}$ and $-\Delta G^{o}$.

X. Solvated Proton Clusters

The ions H_2O^+ and H_3O^+ appear as minor components of every conventional low-pressure mass spectrum. When higher gas pressures are used, it is found that larger ions representing more highly solvated protons are also present. As will be shown in section X.C. these can be most appropriately represented by the general formula $H_{2n+1}O_n^+$. This is meant to imply that no single proton can be identified as the original charge-bearing species; instead the charge is thought to be more evenly spread around the molecule.

Such clusters have been observed to occur among the ions produced in flames, ¹⁵³ gas discharges, ¹⁵⁴ field emission sources, ^{13,155} corona discharges, ¹¹² stationary afterglows, ⁹⁹ flowing afterglows, ¹⁵⁶ α -particle ion sources, ¹⁶ and pulsed-beam ion sources, ⁶⁰ among others. A number of these early studies measured the relative ion intensities for the various species at a single temperature either in the pure water system^{16,157} or for the competitive solvation of water and methanol. ¹⁷ The latter work indicated an approximately equal preference for take-up of these solvents at low solvation numbers. Solvation with acetone and formic acid was also observed. ¹⁵⁷

It had been conclusively established by data from rocketborne mass spectrometers^{93–95} that hydrated proton clusters were the dominant positive ion species in the D region of the ionosphere, at altitudes of between 50 and 80 km. This observation, together with the obvious importance of clustering in solution chemistry, has been responsible for the large body of work on water clusters which has recently been reported.

A. Thermodynamics

The equilibria arising in the stepwise hydration of a proton may be represented by the equation

$$H_{2n+1}O_n^{+} + H_2O \rightleftharpoons H_{2n+3}O_{n+1}^{+}$$
(37)

The system has been studied by high-pressure mass spectrometry using α -particle and electron bombardment ion sources.^{125,158} Data have been reported²⁴ for *n* values of from 1 to 7, over a temperature range of 288–873 K and a pressure range of 0.1-6 Torr. The thermodynamic information obtained via van't Hoff plots is summarized in Table XV,

n	Third body	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$. (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta H^{\circ}.$ (298 K). kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. (298 K), J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹	Ref
1	H ₂ O	105	151	154	24
	$D_2 O^a$		135		159
	CH₄	32.2	29.3	-4.2	25
	CH₄	102	132	Ĩ02	21
	C ₃ H ₈	46.8	68	72	164
	C , H ,	48.9	69	68	165
2	H ₂ O	56.9	93.3	121	24
	H ₂ O	41.8	83.6	130	166
	$D_2 O^a$		97		159
	CH₄	38.9	54.4	58.5	25
	CH₄	54.3	81.4	91.0	21
	C ₃ H ₈	40.6	61.9	70.6	164
3	H ₂ O	35.6	71.1	118	24
	H ₂ O	34.3	67.7	112	166
	$D_2 O^a$		71		159
	CĤ₄	35.1	70.2	117	25
	CH₄	38.8	72.9	115	21
	C ₃ H ₈	35.9	73.5	125	164
4	H ₂ O	23.0	64.0	137	24
	H ₂ O	21.8	61.8	133	166
	$D_2 O^a$		67		159
	CĤ₄	20.1	53.8	117	25
5	H,Ó	16.3	54.4	127	24
	CĤ₄	14.2	35.5	71	25
6	н,Õ	11.7	49.0	124	24
7	н,́о	9.2	43.1	127	24

a Results for fully deuterated clusters.

which also includes values reported subsequently from several different instruments.

A study of the data indicates substantial agreement between the ΔH^{0} values of Kebarle et al.²⁴ and De Paz et al.,¹⁵⁹ reflecting the similarities in the equilibrium distributions observed. Subsequent kinetic studies by Good et al.,^{60,72} Cunningham et al.,²¹ and Young et al.^{160–162} are also in fair agreement with these equilibrium data. Despite this, there has been some discussion as to whether true thermodynamic equilibrium is achieved in practice. Friedman^{23,159} has reported that a significant fraction of the clusters appeared to have greater than thermal energy, while Kebarle²² and Field²⁵ have argued that this is merely a reflection of the expected Boltzmann energy distribution.

Nevertheless, Friedman is undoubtedly justified in warning of the possibility of spurious equilibria being observed. Data reported by Beggs and Field²⁵ for the methane-water system in the range 273–520 K have yielded K_p values for the equilibrium

$$H_3O^+ + H_2O \rightleftharpoons H_5O_2^+ \tag{38}$$

which are no less than ten orders of magnitude different from those of Kebarle.²⁴ It seems quite inconceivable that the data of Kebarle's and Friedman's groups, obtained in a total of five different instruments, could be in error by this amount, and one can only conclude that, for this stage of the hydration process, true equilibrium was not achieved in Beggs and Field's apparatus. It is noteworthy that their data,²⁵ as shown in Table XV, do not display the smooth decrease in $-\Delta G^{o}$ and $-\Delta H^{o}$ values which have otherwise been observed in this and all other clustering systems. Subsequent work in Field's laboratory on substantially the same instrument¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵ has yielded $K_{\rm p}$ values which, though three orders of magnitude larger than the earliest result,²⁵ are still vastly different from the results in the other laboratories. In the C₃H₈/H₂O

TABLE XVI. Thermodynamic Data^{*q*} for the Equilibria: $H^+(X)_n + X \rightleftharpoons H^+(X)_{n+1}$

x	n	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$. (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta H^{\circ}.$ (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. (298 K), J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹
СН₃ОН	1 2	24.0 12.9	33.1 21.3	30.5 28.2
	3	7.5	16.1	28.9
	5	3.2	12.5	31.1
	6 7	2.1 1.4	11.9 12.0	32.9 35.7
CH ₃ OCH ₃	1 2	21.9 1.9	30.7 10.1	29.6 27.6

a From ref 169.

system, ¹⁶⁴ however, the trends in $-\Delta G^{\circ}$ are more in accord with expectation.

For larger clusters, Field's earliest data¹⁶⁶ have been superseded by results for both the CH₄/H₂O²⁵ and C₃H₂/H₂O¹⁶⁴ systems which are in substantial agreement with those of Kebarle²⁴ for n > 2. It seems likely, then, that Field's data correspond to a state of thermal equilibrium for the larger clusters only. Possible reasons for an observed discrimination in favor of smaller clusters are (a) insufficient ion residence time (the ions are sampled before equilibrium is attained); (b) nonhomogeneity within the ion source, especially likely near the walls; (c) the breakdown of the larger clusters under the influence of the electric fields used for ion extraction; and (d) insufficient neutral gas pressure inside the ion source, causing collisional deactivation of the product clusters to be slow. In addition, Futrell (comment appended to ref 163) has pointed out that the proton transfer between H_3O^+ and C_3H_6 , giving $C_3H_7^+$, is exothermic. It is therefore difficult to see how H₃O⁺ could be formed in Field's C₃H₈/H₂O system unless excess energy was present in the reactant ions.

Further information comes from two recent theoretical determinations of $D^{\circ}(H_3O^+-H_2O)$. The reported values of 134.5¹⁶⁷ and 146.5¹⁶⁸ kJ mol⁻¹ are in agreement with the data of Kebarle and Friedman.

This topic has been discussed at length because clearly the validity of all the thermodynamic data reported in this article depends upon the extent to which true thermal equilibrium is attained in the ion sources employed. In practice this can only be decided by the internal and external consistency of the data produced.

The smooth decrease in $-\Delta H^{o}$, observed by both Kebarle and Friedman, leads to the conclusion that there is no point at which a distinct "second shell" of water molecules begins. On the other hand, one cannot envisage up to eight waters being grouped around a single proton. The conclusion is, therefore, that the structures of the clusters are not of the spherical shell type; see section X.C.

The thermodynamics of proton solvation with organic molecules has been the subject of a recent investigation.¹⁶⁹ Equilibrium data for CH₃OH and CH₃OCH₃ are given in Table XVI. The sharp transition between the first and second solvation steps for CH₃OCH₃ is thought to be a result of the blocking of further hydrogen bonding by the surrounding methyl groups in the reactant ion (CH₃)₂O·H⁺·O(CH₃)₂. Other data involving the solvation of a proton by organic molecules will be discussed in section XIV.

B. Kinetics

The first reported investigation of the kinetics of the reaction sequence

$$H_{2n+1}O_n^+ + H_2O + M \rightarrow H_{2n+3}O_{n+1}^+ + M$$
 (39)

employed the pulsed-beam technique discussed in section II.B, using N_2^{60} or O_2^{72} as third body. The mechanisms elucidated have been confirmed by later work.^{74,156}

TABLE XVII. Kinetics of Production of Hydrated Proton Clusters in Moist Air

Eq no.	Reaction	<i>T</i> , [°] K	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	Ref	
 (40)	$N_2^+ + 2N_2 \rightarrow N_4^+ + N_2$	298	8.5(-29)	58	
			8(—29)	8	
		300	8(—29)	60	
(41)	$N_4^+ + H_2O \rightarrow H_2O^+ + 2N_2$	300	$1.9(-9)^{a}$	60	
(42)	$H_2O^+ + H_2O \rightarrow H_3O^+ + OH$	300	$1.8(-9)^{a}$	60	
• •		373	$1.7(-9)^{a}$	170	
(16)	$O_2^+ + 2O_2 \Rightarrow O_4^+ + O_2$	300	2.5(-30)	74	
			1.5(-30)	162	
		307	2.4(-30)	72	
(43)	$O_2^+ + H_2O + O_2 \rightarrow O_2^+ \cdot H_2O + O_2$	300	2.3(-28)	74	
			2.9(-28)	162	
		307	1(-28)	72	
(44)	$O_4^+ + H_2O \rightarrow O_2^+ \cdot H_2O + O_2$	295	$2.2(-9)^{a}$	156	
. ,	4 2 2 4 2	300	$1.5(-9)^{a}$	74	
		307	$1.3(-9)^{a}$	72	
(45)	$O_2^+ \cdot H_2O + H_2O + O_2 \rightarrow O_2^+ (H_2O)_2 + O_2$	307	1.3(-27)	72	
$(46)^{b}$	$O_2^+ \cdot H_2O + H_2O \rightarrow H_2O^+ \cdot OH + O_2$	295	$1.9(-9)^{a}$	156	
· · ·	2 2 2 - 2 - 3 2	300	$1.0(-9)^{a}$	74	
		307	$0.9(-9)^{a}$	72	
(47) ^b	$O_3^+ \cdot H_2O + H_2O \rightarrow H_2O^+ + OH + O_2$	295	$\leq 3(-10)^a$	156	
<i>、</i> ,	2 2 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 2	300	2(-10)a'	74	
		307	$3(-10)^{a}$	72	
(48)	$O_2^+(H_2O)_2^+ + H_2O \rightarrow H_5O_2^+ \cdot OH + O_2^- $ $\rightarrow H_2O_2^+ + OH + O_3^- $	307	6.3(-11) ^a	72	
(49)	$H_{3}O^{+} OH + H_{3}O \rightarrow H_{3}O_{3}^{+} + OH$	295	3(—9) ^a	156	
	5 2 5 2	300	$1.4(-9)^{a}$	74	
			$1(-9)^{a}$	162	
		307	$\geq 1(-9)^a$	72	
			· ·		

^a Second-order rate constants; in units of molecule⁻¹ cm³ sec⁻¹. ^b Reference 162 gives a value of 1(-9) for $k_{46} + k_{47}$.

TABLE XVIII. Kinetic Data for Proton Hydration

I	A	M	<i>T</i> , °K	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	$k_{\rm r}$, molecule ⁻¹ cm ³ sec ⁻¹	Ref
H ₃ O ⁺	H ₂ O	He	300	1.2(-27)		74
-	_			7.2(-28)		а
		Ar	337	6(-28)	<5(—13)	160
		N_2	300	3.4(-27)	7(-26)	60
		M	300	7(-28)		b
		H_2O	300	1(-27)		с
				1.1(-27)		d
		CH₄	398	1.3(-27)	3.2(—20)	2 1
			496	4.6(—28)	2.0(-17)	21
			672	1.7(—28)	2.8(—14)	21
			805	7.2(—2 9)	3.9(—13)	21
H₅O₂ ⁺	H₂O	Ar	337	6(—28)	1(—13)	160
		N ₂	300	2.3(—27)	7(—18)	60
		O.,2	307	2(—27)	6.1(— 1 8)	72
			310	1.7(—27)		162
		CH₄	398	9.8(—2 8)	1.9(—14)	21
			496	2.2(—28)	5.4(—13)	21
H,0,+	H₂O	Ar	337	2(—28)	3(—14)	160
		N_2	300	2.4(—27)	4(—14)	60
		O_2	307	2(—27)	4(—14)	72
			310	1(—27)		162
		CH₄	39 8	4.2(—28)	2.3(—12)	21
H,0₄+	H₂O	O2	307	9(—28)	6(—12)	60
			310	2(—29)		162

^a R. C. Bolden and N. D. Twiddy, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Discuss., **53**, 192 (1973). ^b $H_2/O_2/N_2$ in ratio 4:1:4 made up the third body: A. N. Hayhurst and N. R. Telford, Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A. **322**, 483 (1971). ^c J. A. Burt, Ph.D. Thesis, York University, Toronto, 1968; quoted in footnote b. ^d J. F. Paulson, 1970; private communication quoted in footnote b.

communication quoted in footnote b.

The production of clusters from an N2⁺ precursor occurs in a relatively straightforward way. Table XVII lists the reactions involved, up to the point at which the first water cluster, in this case H_3O^+ , is formed. The initial association of N_2^+ to give N_{4}^{+} was discussed above; the product ion then undergoes dissociative charge transfer, leading rapidly to H_2O^+ . The rate constant observed for the subsequent formation of H_3O^+ was in good agreement with earlier data.¹⁷⁰ The rest of the reaction mechanism, together with the measured rate constant values, is listed in Table XVIII. Equilibrium was observed for delay times of greater than 600 µsec, for the experimental conditions of 0.5-3.5 Torr N₂, 0.3-7 mTorr H₂O, at 300 K. The major ion at equilibrium was $H_9O_4^+$; lesser amounts of $H_7O_3^+$ and $H_5O_2^+$ were also present.

The formation of water clusters from an O₂⁺ precursor proved to be more complex^{72,105} as a result of the lower ionization potentials of O_2^+ and O_4^+ when compared with the corresponding nitrogen ions.68 Thus neither ion could undergo exothermic charge transfer with water. Instead, the reaction was shown to proceed via O2++H2O, formed by a switching reaction (direct formation by eq 43 being relatively unimportant under the experimental conditions of 1-3.3 Torr O2 and 3-20 mTorr H₂O). All the contributing reactions are listed in Table XVII, but the major route accounting for the formation of the water clusters is thought to be that involving eq 16, 44, 46, and 49. Up to 25% of the reaction may, however, proceed via eq 47, to H_3O^+ , at room temperature. Equations 45-47 all involve the O2+(H2O)2* intermediate, the identity of the products depending upon the rapidity and effectiveness of collisional deactivation. Trace amounts of ions with m/e values corresponding to $H_3O^+ \cdot OH$ and $H_5O_2^+ \cdot OH$ were observed in mass analysis of the O_2/H_2O system.⁷²

Another possible ionospheric precursor of hydrated protons is the ion NO⁺. This has an IP even lower than that of O2⁺. The result is that, as shown in Table VII, NO⁺ can undergo hydration by up to three water molecules. Only at this point is the switching reaction energetically feasible:

$$NO^{+}(H_2O)_3 + H_2O \rightarrow H_7O_3^{+} + HNO_2$$
 (50)

The various studies of this system have led to k_{50} values of 7(-11), 99,101 8(-11),100 and 3(-10),102 all at around 300 K. and of >6(-10) at 273 K.¹⁷¹ The large spread in these values makes further work desirable.

Another important reaction in this particular mechanism is the switching process:

$$NO^+ \cdot NO + H_2O \rightarrow NO^+ \cdot H_2O + NO$$
 (51)

This is rapid, with k_{51} measured as $4(-10)^{106}$ and $1(-9)^{.102}$ The former result is a little suspect, however, as a rate constant of 3(-13) was measured for the reverse of eq 51, suggesting the presence of substantial numbers of ions with excess energy. Direct hydration of NO⁺ is likely, in any case, to be more important than eq 51 under ionospheric conditions, where the concentration of neutral NO is low.

Despite the complexity of the mechanisms, O₂⁺ and NO⁺ are regarded as being the most likely precursors of the ionospheric hydrated protons. N_2^+ or N_4^+ would be expected to charge exchange with O2 or NO rather than water, which will have a lower partial pressure.

Kinetic data for the subsequent hydration reactions undergone by the proton clusters in all these systems are given in Table XVIII. The expected variations of $k_{\rm f}$ with third body are observed, Ar being less efficient than O2 or N2. The value of $k_{\rm f}$ does not appear to decrease significantly as the cluster size increases. As far as the ionospheric occurrence of these species is concerned, the possible exothermic charge exchange with NO must be taken into account for most ions. Recombination with free electrons is also extremely rapid, with rate constants as high as 1(-6) molecule⁻¹ cm³ sec⁻¹ in many cases.¹⁷²

Taking all these factors into account, the reported data for the O2/H2O system have been shown¹⁷³ to account substantially for the observed ionospheric intensities of water clusters as observed by Narcisi.93-95

Kinetic data for the formation of $H_5O_2^+$ from organic ions will be dealt with in section XIV.

C. Structure

The absence of evidence for the appearance of a "second shell" of solvated water molecules during the growth of the clusters²⁴ has led to the expectation that some kind of chain structure may be involved, with successive water molecules attaching themselves by means of their lone pairs to give a type of dative-covalent structure in which neither the initial proton nor the H₃O⁺ group preserves its separate identity. On this basis, we would expect the positive charge to be fairly uniformly spread out through the molecule.

Theoretical investigations have been carried out in two laboratories, employing a CNDO/2 method to elucidate the structure of the clusters. The method of Daly and Burton¹⁷⁴ is to treat each molecule of water and each H₃O⁺ ion as if it retains its original size and shape, considering only the bonds between these basic entities. This is less likely to yield a true picture of the situation than is the method of De Paz et al.175 in which each atom is considered separately and which computes structural details, such as bond lengths and angles, which have to be assumed in the less detailed method.

The detailed calculations¹⁷⁵ consistently predict nonplanar structures for the ions, even down to H₃O⁺, which is generally regarded as having a fast enough rate of inversion to be considered planar. Thus the results represent structural isomers of the ions, and averaging out between these and their mirror images is to be expected in practice.

For $H_5O_2^+$, the structure H_2O ·H·OH₂ (disregarding the bond

lengths and angles, which are fully reported in ref 175) was found to be the most stable. For $H_7O_3^+$, the structure H_2O -H-OH-H-OH₂ was found to be about 65 kJ mol⁻¹ more stable than that with the three waters placed symmetrically about a central proton. For this ion, the protons in the O-H-O linkages were found to have charges of about +0.37, while the other protons all had charges of about +0.23. The central oxygen had a charge of -0.36, while the other two each had -0.29. Similar conclusions, leading to a structure of H₂O-H-OH-H-OH-H-OH₂, were reached for H₉O₄⁺. This is in contrast with the earlier Eigen structure^{176,177} in which three water molecules surrounded a central H₃O⁺ ion.

A subsequent theoretical study¹⁷⁸ has formulated general rules for the clustering of both H_3O^+ and OH^- with water. A general energetic preference for chain structures was found, but with a tendency toward branching whenever possible. Inter-oxygen distances were found to increase with successive hydration, and there was a general tendency for bridging protons to occupy asymmetric positions.

The linear structures predicted by these studies have led Ferguson¹²¹ to postulate linear structures for the ions $O_2^+(H_2O)_2$ and $NO^+(H_2O)_4$ which are precursors of hydrated protons in air. Certainly it is difficult otherwise to account for the ease with which the rearrangements take place.

Experimental diffraction studies have been reported for the ions H_3O^{+179} and $H_5O_2^{+}$.¹⁸⁰ H_3O^{+} was found to be a flat pyramid with three unequal bond lengths and angles; this presumably resulted from distortion in the H_3O^{+} ·CH₃·C₆H₄·SO₃⁻ crystal used and cannot be applied directly to free gaseous H_3O^{+} .

Recently reported ir investigations of the $H_5O_2^+$ ion^{181,182} suggested a planar structure containing similar O–H–O linkages to those of De Paz et al.¹⁷⁵ The H_3O^+ ¹⁸³ and $H_9O_4^+$ ¹⁸⁴ ions have also been studied by ir methods.

D. Other Data for Hydrated Proton Clusters

There have been a number of estimates made of $\Delta H_{\rm f}({\rm H_3O^+})$ based on a variety of thermodynamic calculations. Reported values include 598^{185,186} and <635 kJ mol⁻¹.¹⁸⁷ The proton affinity of H₂O has been determined by a variety of methods. Crystal lattice studies have given values of 778^{188,189} and 710 kJ mol⁻¹.¹⁹⁰ Classical methods, such as the measurement of energy thresholds for selected endothermic reactions, give values of 634¹⁹¹ and 685¹⁸⁵ for H₂O, and 702¹⁹² and 695 kJ mol⁻¹.¹⁹³ for D₂O. The appearance potentials of H₃O⁺, H₅O₂⁺, H₇O₃⁺, and H₉O₄⁺ have been measured by field ionization¹⁹⁴ as 848, 965, <1105, and <1115 kJ mol⁻¹, respectively.

It is of interest to compare the bond strengths in the larger clusters with the strength of hydrogen bonding in pure water. The latter has been measured, from ir work,¹⁹⁵ as ~19 kJ mol⁻¹, while theoretical studies give values of 20^{196} and $25.^{197}$ Kebarle et al.²⁴ found a value of 43 kJ mol⁻¹ for $D^{\circ}(H_{15}O_7^+-H_2O)$. In other words the terminal water molecules are attached more strongly than in hydrogen bonding, but the difference is not very great. One might expect the D° value to approach the hydrogen-bond strength asymptotically as the positive charge becomes more spread out in clusters of increasing size.

The total heat of solvation of the proton, leading to the fully dissolved ion H⁺(H₂O)_∞, has been estimated¹⁹⁸ as 1085 kJ mol⁻¹. From the data of Kebarle et al.,²⁴ $\Sigma \Delta H^{o}$ for solvation up to H₁₇O₈⁺ has a value of -1160 kJ mol⁻¹, taking 640 as the value of $-\Delta H^{o}$ for the formation of H₃O⁺.⁶⁸ The larger value given by Kebarle's experiment perhaps arises because both ionic and hydrogen-bonding effects are being observed. If these are additive, the "ionic component" of $\Sigma \Delta H^{o}$ reduces to 1020 kJ mol⁻¹, taking the hydrogen bond strength as 20

TABLE XIX. Thermodynamic Data for the Equilibria: $H_{2n-1}O_n^- + H_2O \Rightarrow H_{2n+1}O_{n+1}^-$

n	-ΔG°- (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	-ΔH [°] exptl, kJ mol ⁻ⁱ	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$ calcd, kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$, J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹	Ref
1	70.7	94.1		79.9	90 <i>a</i>
		146			202 ^a
	78.4	104.5		86.9	115
			149		178
			102		b
2	44.8	68.6		80.8	90a
		96			202ª
	48.2	74.8		88.6	115
			108		178
3	32.3	63.3		104	90 <i>a</i>
		(75) ^c			202ª
		(63.1) ^c			115
			81.1		178
4	22.8	59.4		123	90 <i>a</i>
			74.4		178
5	17.7	59.0		139	90 <i>ª</i>

 a These data were obtained using fully deuterated ions. b W. P. Kraemer and G. H. F. Diercksen, *Theor. Chim. Acta*, **23**, 398 (1972); I thank a referee for drawing attention to this work. c Estimated values.

kJ mol⁻¹ for each of the seven water molecules which are added to H_3O^+ .

Finally, a recent study by Henderson and Schmeltekopf¹⁹⁹ is of interest as an example of a possible new technique in the study of clusters, with special application to aeronomy. The photochemically induced break-up of hydrated proton clusters was studied by sampling the ions produced in 0.1 Torr H₂O, mass-analyzing them, and allowing a beam of chosen *m/e* to intersect with a beam of photons of 580–610 nm wavelength. Upper limits were set for the cross-sections of decompositions of the type:

$$H_{2n+1}O_n^+ + h\nu \rightarrow H_{2(n-m)+1}O_{n-m}^+ + mH_2O$$
 (52)

Reactions involving the loss of one, two, or three water molecules were observed.

XI. Solvated Hydroxyl lons

The electron affinity of the OH radical has been calculated, from experimental measurements on OH^- and OD^- , to be 174 kJ mol⁻¹.²⁰⁰ Using this value, Golub and Steiner²⁰¹ investigated the electron detachment process

$$H_3O_2^- \rightarrow OH + H_2O + e^-$$
(53)

and estimated that $D^{\circ}(OH^{-}-H_{2}O) < 115 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$ by an amount equal to the kinetic energies of the products.

Subsequently, more intensive investigations of the equilibria

$$H_{2n-1}O_n^- + H_2O \rightleftharpoons H_{2n+1}O_{n+1}^-$$
 (54)

have been reported;^{90,202} in both these cases the fully deuterated species were used to give unequivocal mass analysis, but this should have had little effect on the thermodynamic parameters. A subsequent study¹¹⁵ using OH⁻ itself is also included in Table XIX.

A considerable discrepancy is apparent between the experimental data of Kebarle et al.^{90,115} and De Paz et al.²⁰² especially for the initial clustering step. The data of Golub and Steiner,²⁰¹ discussed above, seem more consistent with Kebarle's values.

The structures of the clusters have been investigated by the CNDO/2 method discussed in section X.C. 175 As in the

TABLE XX. Thermodynamic Data for the Equilibria: $NH_4^+(X)_n + X \Rightarrow NH_4^+(X)_{n+1}$

n	x	$-\Delta G^{\circ}$ (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$. (298 K), kJ mol ⁻¹	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. (298 K), J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹	Ref
0	NH ₃	(73.2) ^a	(113) <i>a</i>	(134) <i>a</i>	209
	NH,	71.5	104	109	210
	H,Ŏ	4 7 .7	72.3	79.4	210
	CĤ₄	-1.06	3.59	15.5	214
1	NH,	37.6	71.1	112	209
	NH,	37.2	73.2	120.5 ^b	210
	H,Ő	34.3	61.4	91.5	210
2	NĤ,	27.0	74.4	159	208
	NH	26.8	69.0	142	209
	NH,	25.5	57.5	109	210
	H,Ő	24.7	56.0	105	210
3	NĤ,	16.0	66.4	169	208
	NH,	15.9	60.7	151	209
	NH,	15.5	52.2	125	210
	H,Ŏ	17.1	51.0	114	210
4	NĤ,	0.8	31.4	105	209
	́H₂Ó	12.5	40.5	93.6	210

 $^{\it d}$ By extrapolation. $^{\it b}$ This is a corrected value; that in ref 210 appears to be in error.

case of the hydrated proton, linear clusters were indicated, with $H_5O_3^-$ and $H_7O_4^-$ having the respective structures HO-H-OH-H-OH and HO-H-OH-H-OH. The charge was again fairly evenly spread; for example, in $H_7O_4^-$ each O atom had a charge of \sim -0.5, there was a charge of +0.3 on H atoms in O-H-O linkages, and the normally bonded H atoms were approximately electroneutral. More recently, ab initio calculations have also predicted this type of structure.¹⁷⁸ Unfortunately, this work and the other calculated $-\Delta H^0$ values presented in Table XIX display the same discrepancies as have already been noted for the experimental data.

The enthalpy changes in the reaction

$$OH^- + HX \rightleftharpoons OH^- \cdot HX$$
 (55)

can be calculated from the enthalpy changes in the process:

$$X^{-} + H_2 O \rightleftharpoons X^{-} H_2 O \tag{56}$$

Such a calculation has been reported for the case where X is a halogen.^{90,148}

XII. Solvation of Ammonium lons

A. Clustering in Pure Ammonia

Early work on liquid-phase systems suggested^{203,204} that the heat of solvation of the NH₄⁺ ion in pure NH₃ should be greater than that in water by up to 50 kJ mol⁻¹; the latter quantity has been measured as -330 kJ mol^{-1,205} Thermodynamic properties of the NH₄⁺ ion over the temperature range 200–1000 K have been reported by Altschuler.²⁰⁶

The sequence of clustering equilibria

$$\mathsf{NH}_4^+(\mathsf{NH}_3)_n + \mathsf{NH}_3 \rightleftharpoons \mathsf{NH}_4^+(\mathsf{NH}_3)_{n+1} \tag{57}$$

have been investigated by Kebarle and coworkers.²⁰⁷⁻²¹⁰ Data are available for *n* values in the range 0–4,²⁰⁹ for temperatures of up to 720 K,²¹⁰ while K_p values at 300 K have been measured for n = 3 to 7 at pressures of up to 200 Torr.²⁰⁷ The collected values of thermodynamic properties are listed in Table XX. The data are not in complete agreement, but are sufficiently so to illustrate an interesting feature of this particular system. Whereas all the previous equilibria dealt with in this article have shown smooth decreases in $-\Delta G^{\circ}$ and $-\Delta H^{\circ}$, the data here seem to show a discontinuity at n = 4, where the values are much lower than would

A. Good

TABLE XXI. Thermodynamic Data for Clustering of	
NH ₄ ⁺ (NH ₃) _n (H ₂ O) _w (Ref 210)	

Reactant		Product		-ΔG°- (298 K),	$-\Delta H^{\circ}$. (298 K),	$-\Delta S^{\circ}$. (298 K),
1	w	n	w	kJ mol ⁻¹	kJ mol ⁻¹	J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹
1	0	1	1	28.9	53.9	84.8
5	1	1	1	48.5	76.9	96.2
2	0	2	1	20.9	51.8	103
1	1	2	1	31.8	71.5	133
1	1	1	2	22.2	53.2	105
С	2	1	2	38.5	76.2	127
3	0	3	1	14.2	48.8	117
2	1	3	1	19.7	62.7	144
2	1	2	2	14.7	48.8	116
1	2	2	2	23.4	65.6	142
1	2	1	3	15.5	51.0	119
С	3	1	3	28.9	72.4	147

have been expected. Unfortunately, no data of this type are available for higher *n* values, but reported²⁰⁷ approximate K_p values at 300 K are 3.4, 1.8, 1.5, 1.2, and 0.9 atm⁻¹ for n = 3 to 7, respectively. Thus K_p appears to vary smoothly again following the point of discontinuity.

These data seem to indicate²⁰⁹ that at this point a second shell of solvated NH₃ molecules begins. It was suggested that a pyramidal NH₃ molecule would add on to each vertex of the tetrahedral NH₄⁺ ion. Subsequent additions of NH₃ would then be at much greater distances from the central ion. The value of $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ for n = 4, for example, is only a little greater than that expected in a hydrogen bond. The observed heat of solvation in going from NH₄⁺ to NH₄⁺(NH₃)₄ adds up to -313 kJ mol⁻¹;²⁰⁹ comparison with the expected total heat of solvation of -380 (discussed above) indicates the small contribution of the second and subsequent shells to this property.

A kinetic study²¹¹ has shown that $k_{\rm f}$ for the reaction

$$NH_4^+ + NH_3 + O_2 \rightarrow NH_4^+ \cdot NH_3 + O_2$$
 (58)

has a value of 1.8(-27) at 300 K. Data with NO as third body will be given in subsection C below.

B. Clustering in the Presence of Water

Early work by Hogg and Kebarle²⁰⁷ on the competitive solvation of NH_4^+ with water and ammonia showed that NH_3 was preferentially taken up for $n \leq 3$, i.e., in the inner solvation shell, but that thereafter water was energetically preferred.

A recent study²¹⁰ reports data for both competitive solvation and hydration of the NH_4^+ ion. The reaction

$$NH_4^+(H_2O)_n + H_2O \rightleftharpoons NH_4^+(H_2O)_{n+1}$$
 (59)

was investigated for n values of 0 to 4. The results are included in Table XX and confirm the earlier qualitative conclusions based on competitive clustering. Payzant et al.²¹⁰ also report a large body of data for the equilibria

$$NH_{4}^{+}(NH_{3})_{n}(H_{2}O)_{w}^{+} + H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons NH_{4}^{+}(NH_{3})_{n}(H_{2}O)_{w+1} \quad (60)$$

$$NH_4^+(NH_3)_n(H_2O)_w + NH_3 \rightleftharpoons NH_4^+(NH_3)_{n+1}(H_2O)_w$$
 (61)

and this is given in Table XXI. The general tendency to take up NH₃ preferentially is clear from the $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ values.

Kinetically, the only investigation of hydrated NH_4^+ has been a study by Fehsenfeld and Ferguson²¹² of the reactions

$$NO^{+}(H_{2}O)_{n} + NH_{3} \rightarrow NH_{4}^{+}(H_{2}O)_{n-1} + HNO_{2}$$
 (62)

The measured rate constant for n = 1, at 295 K, was 1(-9) molecule⁻¹ cm³ sec⁻¹, and similar values were found for n = 2 and 3.

TABLE XXII. Clustering in Nitric Oxide/Ammonia Mixtures (Ref 213)

Reaction	$k_{\rm f}$, molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	$k_{\rm r}$, molecule ⁻¹ cm ³ sec ⁻¹
$NO^+ + 2NO \Rightarrow NO^+ \cdot NO + NO$	5(-30)	9(-16)
$NO^+ \cdot NO + NH_3 \rightarrow NO^+ \cdot NH_3 + NO$	1.3(—9) <i>a</i>	
$NO^+ + NH_3 + NO \rightarrow NO^+ \cdot NH_3 + NO$	5.4(-28)	
$NO^+ \cdot NH_3 + NH_3 \rightarrow NH_4^+ + (NO + NH_2)$	9.1(-10) ^a	
$NH_4^+ + NH_3 + NO \rightarrow NH_4^+ \cdot NH_3 + NO$	1.0(-27)	
$NH_4^+ \cdot NH_3 + NH_3 + NO \Rightarrow NH_4^+ (NH_3)_2 + NO$	2.7(-27)	2.4(-15)
$NH_4^+(NH_3)_2 + NH_3 + NO \Rightarrow NH_4^+(NH_3)_3 + NO$	2.4(-27)	1.2(-12)

^a Second order; same units as for k_r .

C. Clustering in Nitric Oxide/Ammonia Mixtures

A kinetic study of positive ion clustering in the NO/NH₃ system has been reported.²¹³ The initial steps involve clustering of NH₃ around the NO⁺ precursor. Switching then occurs, as in the NO/H₂O system, and this is followed by the clustering of NH₃ around NH₄⁺. The complete scheme is given in Table XXII. Unfortunately, the data do not extend up to NH₄⁺(NH₃)₄. It would be of interest to see what effect the postulated "second-shell" inception at this point would have on the value of $k_{\rm f}$.

XIII. The Solvation of CN

A gas-phase study of the formation of the CN⁻ monohydrate ion has yielded¹¹⁵ values of 57.7, 32.8 (both in kJ mol⁻¹), and 82.9 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ for $-\Delta H^{\circ}$, $-\Delta G^{\circ}$ (300 K), and $-\Delta S^{\circ}$, respectively. An approximately linear correspondence between $D^{\circ}(H^+-X^-)$ and $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ for the first hydration step of X⁻ was found for X = OH, halide, CN, NO₂, and NO₃.

XIV. Clustering around Organic lons

Many ionic equilibria involving organic species have been studied, notably by Field and coworkers. The present article will deal only with those systems having most relevance to the general themes which have been discussed above. In particular, the rather sparse kinetic data will be considered.

A. Clustering Reactions in Methane

Early work¹⁴ by Field and coworkers identified the ion $C_2H_8^+$ in the mass spectrum of methane at high pressure. A third-order process involving CH_3^+ , which proceeded via clustering and subsequent fragmentation, was also postulated:

$$CH_3^+ + CH_4 \rightleftharpoons (C_2H_7^+)^* \xrightarrow{CH_4} CH_5^+ + C_2H_6 \qquad (63)$$

This was calculated to be exothermic by ≤ 120 kJ mol⁻¹. This is not an orthodox clustering reaction, but Bennett and Field²¹⁴ have observed an equilibrium for the corresponding reaction of the CF₃⁺ ion, giving rise to CF₃⁺·CH₄. The values of $\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$, ΔH° , and ΔS° were +1.1, -4.55, and -18.8, respectively, in the usual units. Very similar data were reported for the formation of H₃S⁺·CH₄. The values of the same parameters in this case were +1.55, -8.87, and -18.1.

Field and Beggs²¹⁵ have subsequently found true clustering in pure methane at between 0.1 and 1 Torr and temperatures of 77–300 K. The equilibrla

$$CH_5^+ + CH_4 \rightleftharpoons C_2 H_9^+ \tag{64}$$

$$C_2H_5^+ + CH_4 \rightleftharpoons C_3H_9^+ \tag{65}$$

$$C_2H_9^+ + CH_4 \rightleftharpoons C_3H_{13}^+ \tag{66}$$

were studied and $\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K})$ values of -1.9, +0.43, and +2.9 kJ mol⁻¹ were obtained for the three reactions. The

corresponding values of $-\Delta H^{\circ}$ were 17.3, 9.99, and 6.14 kJ mol⁻¹, and of $-\Delta S^{\circ}$ were 51.8, 35.9, and 30.1 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹.

Work on the methane/water system, which gives rise to the hydrated proton sequence,²⁵ has been discussed in section X.A. Subsequent work at low temperatures²¹⁶ has detected the solvation of the H_3O^+ ion by methane molecules:

$$H_3O^+ + CH_4 \rightleftharpoons H_3O^+ \cdot CH_4 \tag{67}$$

$$H_{3}O^{+} \cdot CH_{4} + CH_{4} \rightleftharpoons H_{3}O^{+}(CH_{4})_{2}$$
(68)

The quantitative details were: $-\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K}) = 7.9 \text{ and } 5.0 \text{ kJ}$ mol⁻¹, $-\Delta H^{\circ} = 33.4 \text{ and } 14.2 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$, and $-\Delta S^{\circ} = 85.3$ and 33.8 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹.

Bromo- and iodomethane have recently been $observed^{217}$ to undergo dimerization to give $(CH_3X)_2^+$. The corresponding ion was not observed in chloromethane.

B. Clustering in Ethylene and Derivatives

The earliest observations of clustering in ethylene used either the pure gas^{218,219} or a xenon-sensitized sample.²²⁰⁻²²³ The system has been reinvestigated by Tiernan and coworkers.^{224,225} It was shown²²¹ that the $C_2H_4^+$ ion underwent an initial two-body reaction, giving the excited dimer, which could then react to give a variety of possible products:

$$C_2H_4^+ + C_2H_4 \rightleftharpoons (C_4H_8^+)^* \xrightarrow{M} C_4H_8^+ + M$$
 (69)

$$\rightarrow C_3 H_5^+ + C H_3 \qquad (70)$$

$$\rightarrow C_4 H_7^+ + H \qquad (71)$$

In pure ethylene, the main process was that in eq 70, in the range 5–200 Torr.²²⁰ lons of general formula $C_nH_{2n-1}^{+}$ were observed up to $C_{15}H_{29}^{+}$, the upper mass limit of the instrument employed, indicating the importance of reactions like eq 71. The ion $C_{14}H_{28}^{+}$ was also seen. When a mixture of 1% $C_{2}H_{4}$ in Xe was studied,²²⁰ the $C_nH_{2n}^{+}$ chain was present with a greatly enhanced intensity, showing the greater contribution of eq 69. The rate constant of eq 69 in pure ethylene has been measured²¹⁸ as 2(-27) molecule⁻² cm⁶ sec⁻¹.

The subsequent reaction

$$C_{3}H_{5}^{+} + 2C_{2}H_{4} \rightarrow C_{5}H_{9}^{+} + C_{2}H_{4}$$
 (72)

has also been investigated,²²⁶ and it was found that it was this process, rather than the decomposition of excited $C_6H_{12}^+$, which was the main precursor of $C_5H_9^+$ in the system. The corresponding reaction of $C_3H_5^+$ with C_2D_4 has been studied.²²⁷ The rate constant was found to depend on repeller voltage and on the source of the $C_3H_5^+$. At 0.64 eV, rate constants of 8.4, 14.1, 6.2, and 3.6(-25) were observed for cyclopropyl bromide, allyl bromide, 2-bromopropene, and 1-bromopropene precursors, respectively.

Several studies of partially halogenated ethylenes have been carried out. Thus, for the reaction

$$C_2H_3X^+ + 2C_2H_3X \rightarrow \text{products}$$
 (73)

rate constants of 1.2(-25),²²⁸ 1(-25),²²⁹ and $5.5(-26)^{229}$ were obtained for X = F, CI, and Br, respectively. However, the products were not the dimers, but fragments such as $C_3H_4X^+$, $C_4H_5X^+$, and $C_3H_3X_2^+$, so these were not clustering reactions. Similarly, $C_3H_5^+$ reacts with C_2H_3F to give $C_5H_7^+$ with a third-order rate constant of 8.8(-25) at 0.64 eV.²²⁷

True clustering has recently been reported²³⁰ for the dimerization of $CF_2CH_2^+$ to give $C_4F_4H_4^+$. Ion-cyclotron resonance studies at 300 K gave values of $10^{25}k_f$, for the third bodies indicated, of 1.7 (He), 2.3 (Ne), 4.3 (Ar), 5.4 (Kr), 5.8 (Xe), 4.8 (N₂), 5.0 (CO), and 12.0 (CF₂CH₂).

In ethylene with added nitric oxide, the clustering of $C_4H_8^+$ with an NO molecule has been observed.²²² This is followed by third-order fragmentation:

$$C_4H_8^+ \cdot NO + 2NO \rightarrow C_2H_5(NO)_2^+ + C_2H_3NO$$
 (74)

This is clustering of a sort, but is clearly more complex than the solvation-type reactions we have largely been dealing with.

C. Clustering in Other Aliphatic Hydrocarbons

The formation of the dimer ion $(C_3H_8)_2^+$ in pure propane has been reported,²³¹ although no quantitative data have been obtained. Ion-molecule reactions in ethane/water systems have been shown²³² to give rise to $C_2H_4^+(H_2O)_n$ and $C_3H_7^+(H_2O)_n$ clusters with *n* values of up to 4 in both cases.

The latter series of clusters have also been studied in the propane/water system.¹⁶⁴ For *n* values of 0, 1, and 2, respectively, the reported thermodynamic parameters were: $-\Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K}) = 38.5$, 40.5, and 35.5 kJ mol⁻¹; $-\Delta H^{\circ} = 73.5$, 56.4, and 62.2 kJ mol⁻¹; and $-\Delta S^{\circ} = 116$, 53.1, and 89.9 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹. No clear pattern is discernible from these data.

An interesting route for the formation of $H_5O_2^+$ has been reported by Sieck and Searles¹⁸⁷ in a photoionization source at 300 K. The reaction

$$\mathsf{RH}_2^+ + 2\mathsf{H}_2\mathsf{O} \longrightarrow \mathsf{H}_5\mathsf{O}_2^+ + \mathsf{RH} \tag{75}$$

was observed for a number of hydrocarbons. For smaller molecules, the reaction was experimentally second order. Thus, both the $C_2H_6^+$ and the $C_3H_8^+$ ions were seen to undergo reaction with a single molecule of water, leading to the formation of H_3O^+ in each case. The rate constants of these reactions were 1.2(-9) and 1.4(-9) molecule⁻¹ cm³ sec⁻¹, respectively.

The larger hydrocarbons studied¹⁸⁷ all underwent thirdorder switching as described by eq 75. The ions studied, with their corresponding rate constants, were: $n-C_4H_{10}^+$, 4(-25); $i-C_4H_{10}^+$, 1.2(-25); $c-C_5H_{10}^+$, 5(-26); $n-C_5H_{12}^+$, 4.6(-26); $n-C_6H_{14}^+$, 3.6(-26); $i-C_6H_{14}^+$, 1.5(-26); $c-C_6H_{12}^+$, 5(-27). These are not, of course, clustering reactions as such, but they are important as precursors of clusters in view of their great rapidity.

D. Clustering in Amines

Clustering reactions are known²³³ to occur in pure samples of methyl-, dimethyl- and trimethylamine; at pressures of up to 0.5-Torr the series $H^+(CH_3NH_2)_n$, $H^+(CH_3NHCH_3)_n$, and $H^+(CH_3)_3N_n$ have been observed with maximum *n* values of 4, 3, and 2, respectively.

The gas-phase proton-exchange equilibria of ammonia and of aliphatic and aromatic amines have been studied and have yielded information on basicities,^{234,235} hydrogen bonding,²³⁵ and proton-induced cyclization.²³⁵

E. Clustering in Other Aliphatic Compounds

The first associated dimer ion to be reported was

 $(C_2H_5I)_2^{+}$,²³⁶ but no quantitative data are available for this ion. Ethanol has been found to give rise to clusters of the type $H^+(C_2H_5OH)_n$ with *n* values of up to $4.^{237}$ In pure gaseous acetone, the clusters $H^+(CH_3COCH_3)_n^{157,238}$ and $CH_3^+(CH_3COCH_3)_n^{238}$ were found with *n* up to 4, while $CH_3CO^+(CH_3COCH_3)_n$ was present with *n* up to 3,²³⁸ all at pressures of up to 0.6 Torr. The H⁺(HCOOH) cluster has also been reported,¹⁵⁷ as have $H^+(CH_3OH)_n$ and $H^+(CH_3O-CH_3)_n$;¹⁶⁹ see section X.A.

A number of rate constants have been measured in a timeof-flight mass spectrometer²³⁹ for clustering in trioxane:

$$H^{+}(CH_{2}O) + 2(CH_{2}O)_{3} \rightarrow H^{+}(CH_{2}O)_{4} + (CH_{2}O)_{3}$$
 (76)

$$H^+(CH_2O)_2 + 2(CH_2O)_3 \rightarrow H^+(CH_2O)_5 + (CH_2O)_3$$
 (77)

$$H^{+}(CH_{2}O)_{3} + 2(CH_{2}O)_{3} \rightarrow H^{+}(CH_{2}O)_{6} + (CH_{2}O)_{3}$$
 (78)

The $k_{\rm f}$ values for these reactions were respectively 6.28(-24), 9.9(-25), and 1.17(-23) molecule⁻² cm⁶ sec⁻¹. The precursor ions in eq 76 and 77 are products of the electron-impact decomposition of neutral trioxane, but unfortunately the authors do not discuss possible structures for these fragments. The addition of a further molecule of trioxane to the product ion is second order in all three cases, but owing to a typographical error in Table 1 of ref 239, it is not possible to quote rate constant values for these processes.

F. Clustering in Aromatic Compounds

Wexler and Pobo have studied the clustering of C_6 hydrocarbons in drift tubes²⁴⁰ and report that clustering was observed for aromatics but not for aliphatics. Thus, $C_6H_{12}^+$ underwent partial decomposition:

$$C_6H_{12}^+ + 2C_6H_{12} \rightarrow C_{18}H_{34}^+ + H_2$$
(79)

However, $C_6H_6^+$ underwent fourth-order clustering²⁴¹ at field strengths of from 10 to 54 V cm⁻¹. The suggested reaction scheme was

$$(C_6H_6^+)^{\ddagger} + C_6H_6 \rightarrow (C_6H_6^+)^* + C_6H_6^*$$
 (80)

$$(C_6H_6^+)^* + C_6H_6 \rightleftharpoons (C_{12}H_{12}^+)^*$$
(81)

$$(C_{12}H_{12}^{+})^{*} + C_{6}H_{6} \rightarrow C_{12}H_{12}^{+} + C_{6}H_{6}$$
(82)

The initial excess energy presumably derives from the applied field. Equation 80 can perhaps be regarded as an abortive attempt to undergo reaction 81, which fails because of the excess of energy in the cluster. This is not very convincing, however, and a very recent study has observed third-order clustering for benzene with a variety of third bodies.²³⁰ The reported values of $10^{27}k_{\rm f}$ at 300 K were, for the formation of $C_{12}H_{12}^+$ using the third body indicated, 4 (He), 0 ± 6 (Ne), 7 (Ar), 11 (Kr), 16 (Xe), and 120 (C_6H_6). These data cast doubt on the fourth-order mechanism.

An equilibrium study of the dimerization reaction leading to $C_{12}H_{12}^+$ has led^{242} to values of -63 kJ mol⁻¹, -33 kJ mol⁻¹, and -97 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹ for $\Delta H^{\circ}(298 \text{ K}), \Delta G^{\circ}(298 \text{ K}),$ and ΔS° , respectively.

XV. Clustering in Boron Compounds

No quantitative information is available for boron clusters, but the ions $BCI^{-}(H_2O)_n$, for *n* from 1 to 6, and $B_2CI^{-}(H_2O)_n$, for *n* from 1 to 7, have been reported.²⁴³

XVI. Clustering in Silicon and Germanium Compounds

A large body of data on the ion-molecule reactions of inorganic hydrides has been reported by Lampe and coworkers. Most of these reactions are second order, but in the study of CH_4/SiH_4 mixtures in a modified time-of-flight mass spectrometer, Beggs and Lampe¹¹ observed the reaction

$$CH_4^+ + SiH_4 + M \rightarrow SiH_5^+ + CH_3 + M$$
(83)

which had a rate constant of 2.0(-26) molecule⁻² cm⁶ sec⁻¹. The third body was necessary to prevent decomposition into SiH₃⁺. Other SiH₄-derived ions have been seen to undergo orthodox clustering. Yu et al.²⁴⁴ studied the reactions

$$\mathrm{Si}^+ + 2\mathrm{SiH}_4 \longrightarrow \mathrm{Si}_2\mathrm{H}_4^+ + \mathrm{SiH}_4 \tag{84}$$

$$SiH^{+} + 2SiH_{4} \longrightarrow Si_{2}H_{5}^{+} + SiH_{4}$$
(85)

$$\operatorname{SiH}_2^+ + 2\operatorname{SiH}_4 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Si}_2\mathrm{H}_6^+ + \operatorname{SiH}_4 \tag{86}$$

$$SiH_3^+ + 2SiH_4 \rightarrow Si_2H_7^+ + SiH_4$$
(87)

and measured rate constant values of 1.0(-26), 1.1(-26), 7(-26), and 1.44(-26) molecule⁻² cm⁶ sec⁻¹, respectively.

A similar series of reactions has been reported for GeH₄ from the same laboratory.²⁴⁵ However, Ge₂H₆⁺ was not observed, suggesting that the reaction analogous to eq 86 did not occur. The reactions with Ge⁺, GeH⁺, and GeH₃⁺ precursors had rate constants of 1.4(-26), 1.3(-26), and 1.8(-26) molecule⁻² cm⁶ sec⁻¹, respectively.

XVII. Theories of Third-Order Ion–Molecule Reaction

A. General Langevin Theory of Two-Body Reactions

As shown in section III, we can consider ion-molecule clustering in terms of an energy-transfer mechanism, represented by eq 2 and 3. Three of the four processes involved, those of combination, stabilization, and activation, were two-body reactions. It is therefore necessary to begin a discussion of the theory of clustering by considering the theoretical treatments which have been applied to such reactions.

The classical theory giving the energies of interaction between ions and molecules was developed from standard electrostatic relations by Langevin²⁴⁶ and has been applied to the special case of ion-molecule reaction by Gioumousis and Stevenson.²⁴⁷ It has been extended by Walton²⁴⁸ and Gupta et al.¹⁷⁰ to take account of a possible permanent dipole moment in the neutral molecule, assuming that the effect of such a dipole would be additive to the ion-induced-dipole attraction. Thus the potential energy of interaction, *V*, between an ion I and a molecule A can be shown to be

$$V = -\left(\frac{\alpha_{\mathsf{A}} \sigma^2}{2} + \frac{\mu_{\mathsf{A}}^2 \sigma^2}{3kT}\right) \frac{1}{r^4} \tag{88}$$

where *e* is the unit of electronic charge, α_A and μ_A are respectively the polarizability and permanent dipole moment of the molecule A, and *r* is the distance of separation. The negative sign indicates the attractive nature of the interaction.

For reaction to occur, this energy V must be $\geq \frac{1}{2}mv^2$, the kinetic energy of the system, where m is the reduced mass and v the relative velocity of I and A. This condition will only be fulfilled when $r \leq r_c$, where r_c is some critical distance of separation equivalent to the radius of the reaction cross-section. Thus, when $r = r_c$

$$r_{\rm c} = \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm A} \theta^2}{2} + \frac{\mu_{\rm A}^2 \theta^2}{3kT} \right) \left(\frac{2}{mv^2} \right) \right]^{1/4} \tag{89}$$

The microscopic cross-section, $q_{\rm i}$ is given by $2\pi r_{\rm c}^2$ and hence^{248}

$$k = qv = 2\pi r_c^2 v = 2\pi e \left(\frac{\alpha_A}{m} + \frac{2\mu_A^2}{3mkT}\right)^{1/2}$$
(90)

This expression was found to correlate well with data obtained for simple second-order reactions, although there was evidence²⁴⁸ that, when $\mu_A \neq 0$, better agreement could sometimes be obtained with a square-well potential model in which

$$k_{\text{well}} = k_{90} (1/\pi)^2 \tag{91}$$

An expression similar to eq 90 was derived by Gupta et al.¹⁷⁰ However, rather than summing at the potential energy stage, the method in this case was to calculate separate rate constants for ion-induced dipole and ion-permanent dipole effects before performing the addition. The final equation

$$k = 2\pi e \left[\left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm A}}{m} \right)^{1/2} + \left(\frac{2\mu_{\rm A}^2}{mKT} \right)^{1/2} \right]$$
(92)

thus differs slightly from eq 90. Thus k_{90} and k_{92} will show slight numerical differences, but the general trends will be similar. Of the two, Walton's method²⁴⁸ is probably preferable.

I am grateful to a referee for drawing my attention to a recent, more sophisticated treatment of the role of dipole effects.²⁴⁹ Both methods discussed above assume a "locking-in" of ionic charge and dipole; i.e., the dipole is treated as though it were in the electrically most favorable orientation with respect to the ionic charge. Thus the effect of the dipole moment tends to be overestimated. Su and Bowers²⁴⁹ have allowed for the thermal rotational energy of the dipolar molecule, which they therefore assume to be oriented at an angle θ to the electrically most favored position. The angle θ is dependent on the intermolecular distance. This treatment has yielded a closer correspondence between experimental and calculated rate constants than that achieved by the simpler theories.

B. Empirical Third-Order Reaction Rate Theory

An empirical theory of third-order ion-molecule reaction was proposed by Bohme, 32,250 who considered all the data then available (1969) and concluded that the rate constant for clustering was related to the number of atoms in the product ion, *N*, by the expression

$$k_{\rm f} = 10^{-32.5} N^{6.24} \tag{93}$$

The observed scatter was at most \pm one order of magnitude. Subsequent data also appear to fit eq 93 within the quoted limits, right up to H⁺(CH₂O)₆, the largest product ion (N = 25) for which kinetic data are available.²³⁹

This observation may be rationalized by considering the possible decomposition of the excited species I-A* in eq 3. Clearly, the probability that this will occur before stabilization will decrease as the number of degrees of freedom available for storing the energy increases. However, the rate of decomposition will also depend on the amount of energy which needs to be stored in this way; in other words, k_d will vary as the exothermicity of the combination reaction, which is approximately equivalent to D° (I–A), varies. This helps to account for the observed scatter. A comment by Keller and Niles²⁵¹ carries this approach one step further by showing how observed k_f values may be correlated with both cluster mass and the polarizability of A.

C. Classical Theory

The effects of both cluster size and energy release have been taken into account in a classical semiempirical treat-

TABLE XXIII. Calculated and Experimental Bond Strengths of Ion-Molecule Clusters, I-A

1	А	М	<i>т</i> . °к	$k_{\rm f}$. molecule ⁻² cm ⁶ sec ⁻¹	l Ref	Dcalcd [°] , kJ mol ⁻¹	<i>a</i> Dexptl [°] . kJ mol ⁻¹	Ref
N ₂ +	Ν,	N ₂	300	8.3(-29)	60	115	95.4	64
0,+	ο,	Ο,	300	2.8(-30)	20	46	43.9	71
-	Н,	He	82	7.4(-31)	73	7	<20 ^b	73
	н,о	He	300	8.5(-29)	73	109	110 ^b	72
O₄+	O ₂	He	82	5(-30)	73	27	27.2	71
H ₃ O ⁺	H,O	N_2	300	3.7(-27)	60	169	151	24
H,0,+	H,O	N_2	300	2.3(—27)	60	81	92.9	24
H,O,+	н,o	N ₂	300	2.4(-27)	60	63	72.1	24
H _° O ₄ +	н,o	O_2	307	9.0(-28)	72	54	64	24
CÓ+	сŌ	сō	340	1.4(-28)	118	140	118 ^b	118

 a Calculated in ref 253 using eq 96. b Estimated from thermochemical data.

ment of clustering.^{252,253} The relationship of the observed rate constant to the rate constants of the individual steps was shown in section III to be

$$k_{\rm f} = k_{\rm c} k_{\rm s} / k_{\rm d} \tag{4}$$

Equation 90 was used to evaluate k_c , while k_d was obtained from standard RRK theory²⁵⁴ and was expressed as

$$k_{\rm d} = A \left(\frac{rRT}{D + rRT}\right)^{s-1} \tag{94}$$

where A is a vibration frequency, D the bond dissociation energy of the cluster, r the number of square terms contributing to the internal energy of the molecule, and s related to the number of degrees of freedom in the excited complex.

The stabilization constant k_s was given by an equation of the same form as eq 90, but corrected by a factor f, to take account of the fraction of the total energy which had to be removed by collision with M. This gave

$$f = 1 - \frac{E_{\text{excess}}}{E_{\text{total}}} = \frac{rRT}{D + rRT}$$
(95)

A combination of these three expressions into eq 4 gave

$$k_{\rm f} = \frac{4\pi^2 e^2}{A} \left(\alpha_{\rm A} \alpha_{\rm M} + \frac{2\mu_{\rm A}^2 \alpha_{\rm M}}{3kT} + \frac{2\mu_{\rm M}^2 \alpha_{\rm A}}{3kT} + \frac{4\mu_{\rm A}^2 \mu_{\rm M}^2}{9k^2 T^2} \right)^{1/2} \times \left(\frac{M_{\rm I} + M_{\rm A} + M_{\rm M}}{M_{\rm I} M_{\rm A} M_{\rm M}} \right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{D + rRT}{rRT} \right)^{\rm s - 2}$$
(96)

where M_X is the mass of species X. Reasonable values of A and s must be chosen, and the arbitrary nature of these quantities restricts the usefulness of the equation. However, it has been used with fair success to interpret the observed temperature dependence of k_f^{252} and to predict D° values for reactions with known k_f^{253} (see Table XXIII).

D. Charge-Transfer Theory

A different mechanism has been proposed by Mahan³⁷ in a calculation of the rate constants for the formation of rare-gas dimer ions. He proposed that the initial step was a bimolecular resonant-charge-transfer reaction, having a rate constant $k_{\rm CT}$:

$$Ar_{I}^{+} + Ar_{II} \rightarrow Ar_{I} + Ar_{II}^{+}$$
(97)

In order that these products may spend an appreciable time in proximity, the ion-induced-dipole attraction between them

TABLE XXIV. Theoretical Values of Clustering Rate Constants in Pure Rare Gases (300 K)

	$10^{31}k_{\rm f}$, molecule $^{-2}$ cm ⁶ sec $^{-1}$							
Product ion	Exptl data ^a	Niles, Mahan ³⁷ et al. ²⁵⁵ Smirnov ²⁵⁶			Dickenson et al. ²⁵⁷			
He ₂ +	0.35— 1.1	0.77	1.02	0.68	0.70			
Ne ₂ +	0.15— 0.79	0.62	0.14	0.71	0.40			
Ar ₂ +	0.6— 3.0	2.35	0.69	2.63	0.70			
Kr ₂ +	2.3 — 2.7	2.60	0.44	3.21	5.10			
$\times e_2^+$	1.8 — 3.6	3.90	0.41	4.73	0.55			

a From Table I.

must be large enough to overcome the kinetic energy of the molecules:

$$\frac{\alpha_{\rm Ar}\theta^2}{2r^4} \ge \frac{1}{2} mv^2 \tag{98}$$

For stabilized Ar_2^+ to be produced, there must be a third particle within a distance r_c , the limiting value of r in eq 98. Thus, in the limit

$$r_{\rm c} = \left(\frac{\alpha_{\rm Ar} e^2}{mv^2}\right)^{1/4} \tag{99}$$

and association occurs if $r < r_c$. Overall, one can say

 $k_{\rm f} = k_{\rm CT} \times$ probability of finding third particle within $r_{\rm c} =$

$$k_{\rm CT} \frac{4\pi}{3} \int_0^\infty r_{\rm c}(v)^3 f(v) dv$$
 (100)

where f(v) is the Maxwell–Boltzmann distribution function at the reaction temperature. Integration leads to

$$k_{\rm f} = \frac{4}{3} k_{\rm CT} \pi^{1/2} 2^{1/4} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha e^2}{kT}\right)^{3/4} \tag{101}$$

This gives a predicted temperature dependence which varies from $T^{-5/4}$ at low temperatures to $T^{-1/4}$ at high temperatures. The $k_{\rm f}$ values obtained in this way are listed in Table XXIV.

Mahan's theory,³⁷ based as it is on a charge-transfer mechanism, is only likely to be directly applicable for cases in which $I = A^+$. In other systems, resonant charge transfer will not occur. Nevertheless, one could envisage the substitution of some other rate constant, say Walton's k_{90} , into Mahan's final equation, thus extending it to deal with other systems. In practice, however, results for larger molecules are too low by several orders of magnitude, perhaps because no account is taken of the ability of the intermediate to store energy and hence to undergo stabilization with particles at much greater *r* values.

E. Other Theories of Rare Gas Clustering

Because of the relative simplicity of rare gas clustering, this type of process has received more theoretical attention than any other. Niles and Robertson²⁵⁵ employed a statistical mechanical method, developed from an earlier expression for the formation of He₂⁺, to calculate $k_{\rm f}$ values for all the inert gases. They considered the final equilibrium

$$He^+ + 2He \rightleftharpoons He_2^+ + He \tag{102}$$

for which one can write

$$k_{\rm f} = \frac{[{\rm He_2}^+]}{[{\rm He}^+][{\rm He}]} k_{\rm r} \tag{103}$$

Writing in the partition functions gives

$$\frac{[\text{He}_2^+]}{[\text{He}^+][\text{He}]} = \frac{g_3}{g_1 g_2} \left(\frac{h^2}{2\pi M k T}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{8\pi^2 l k T}{h^2}\right) \times \exp(D/k T) \left/ \left\{1 - \exp\left(\frac{-hv}{k T}\right)\right\}$$
(104)

where g_1 , g_2 , and g_3 are the statistical weights of the ground states of He, He⁺, and He₂⁺, respectively; $M = m_{\text{He}^+} \cdot m_{\text{He}^-}$ $(m_{\rm He^+} + m_{\rm He})$; *I* is the moment of inertia of He₂⁺; v = vibrational frequency of He2+; D is the bond dissociation energy of He_2^+ .

The rate of decomposition of He2⁺ will depend upon the total number of collisions between He2⁺ and He, denoted by z, upon the fraction F having sufficient energy to cause decomposition, and upon the fraction p of these which actually lead to decomposition. Thus

$$k_{\rm r} = pFz \tag{105}$$

Values of F and z are calculated, assuming Maxwell-Boltzmann statistics, from standard statistical-mechanical relations. Equations 104 and 105 are then substituted into eq 103, giving

$$k_{\rm f} = p \left[4 \pi h (d)^2 (3)^{1/2} \frac{g_3}{g_1 g_2} (M_{\rm He})^{-2} \right] \times \left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{hv}{kT}\right) \right]^{-1} \left[(D/kT) + 1 \right]$$
(106)

where d is the sum of the diameters of He and He_2^+ . When this treatment is extended to the other inert gases, some terms will be constant in all cases. The general equation is

$$k_{\rm f}T = (1.17 \times 10^{-47})(pDd^2/B_{\rm e}M_{\rm X}^2)$$
 (107)

where B_{e} is the rotational constant of the inert gas ion X_{2}^{+} in its equilibrium position. The value of d may be obtained from measurements of ionic mobility in drift-tube experiments.

The calculated values of k_f for the rare gases are listed in Table XXIV. In principle the method could be extended to cover other clustering reactions by inserting the appropriate partition functions in eq 104. This might well have the effect of changing the predicted temperature dependence of k_f; in this particular case a T^{-1} dependence was obtained, as shown in eq 107.

Smirnov²⁵⁶ obtained a $T^{-3/4}$ dependence for k_c , which was expressed in the form of a modified Langevin equation:

$$k_{\rm c} \propto \left(\frac{\alpha e^2}{M}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{\alpha e^2}{T}\right)^{3/4}$$
 (108)

The proportionality constant was determined from a comparison with the experimental $k_{\rm f}$ values for He₂⁺ formation. Smirnov's calculated data are given in Table XXIV. He also estimated a value of 1.5(-31) for $k_{\rm f}$ in the formation of Hg₂⁺ with He as third body. This agrees quite well with the experimental result.145

Dickenson et al.²⁵⁷ have employed a resonance theory treatment in which states having a rotational quantum number, J, greater than zero are also considered. The result is an expression which is basically similar to that of Niles and Robertson though rather more complex in its final form, as it involves a summation of reaction cross-sections for all values of J. The inclusion of these extra terms tends to give higher computed values of $k_{\rm f}$, as shown in Table XXIV. Both methods fail to reproduce the observed trends of the experimental values in Table I, where $k_{\rm f}$ is seen to become larger as the atomic weight of the gas increases.

All the methods discussed lead to k_f values which are within an order of magnitude of the experimental k_f values also quoted in Table XXIV. However, while the methods of Mahan³⁷ and Smirnov²⁵⁵ give results close to the range of experimental k_f values for all five gases, those of Niles and Robertson²⁵⁶ and Dickenson et al.²⁵⁷ are considerably in error for Kr_2^+ and Xe_2^+ .

XVIII. Conclusion

Most of the experimental data reported here have been obtained within the last five years. Work is continuing in many laboratories to provide some of the quantitative data which are as yet unavailable. There are numbers of systems in which either kinetic or equilibrium data, or both, are still needed. It appears, however, that the presently available experimental techniques, in particular the "flowing-afterglow" and "pulsed-beam" methods, have been developed to the extent necessary for the provision of much of these missing data. Thus, progress in this aspect of the subject seems only a matter of time.

There remains, however, a lack of information about the true structures of cluster ions and the exact nature of the bonding involved. The theoretical treatments have so far been largely classical and empirical, lacking in generality.

The uses to which the data can be put have already been outlined. At present the information on ionospheric clustering seems to have overtaken the level of knowledge in other areas of the subject, and a full kinetic analysis of ionospheric chemistry must now await more data on recombination rates and other processes becoming available.

One may envisage an increasing interest, on the part of solution chemists, in the application of data of this kind to the solving of problems in the liquid phase. The possibilities of this area of study have scarcely begun to be realized.

XIX. References

- P. Kebarle, "lons and lon Pairs in Organic Reactions," Vol. I, M. Szwarc, Ed., Interscience, New York, N.Y., 1972, p 27.
 P. Kebarle, "lon-Molecule Reactions," Vol. I, J. L. Franklin, Ed., Plenum Press, New York, N.Y., 1972, p 315.
 R. Narcisi and W. Roth, Adv. Electron. Electron Phys., 29, 79 (1970).
- Y. Kaneko, L. R. Megill, and J. B. Hasted, J. Chem. Phys., 45, 3741 (4)(1966).
- (5) E. W. McDaniel, "Case Studies in Atomic Collision Physics," Vol. I, E. W. McDaniel and M. R. C. McDowell, Ed., North-Holland, Amsterdam. 1969, p 3.
- (6) R. M. Snuggs, D. J. Volz, J. H. Schummers, D. W. Martin, and E. W. McDaniel, *Phys. Rev. A*, **3**, 477 (1971).
 (7) R. M. Snuggs, D. J. Volz, I. R. Gatland, J. H. Schummers, D. W. Martin, and E. W. McDaniel, *Phys. Rev. A*, **3**, 487 (1971).
- (8) P. F. Knewstubb, Adv. Mass Spectrom., 4, 391 (1968).
- (9) D. B. Dunkin, F. C. Fehsenfeld, A. L. Schmeltekopf, and E. E. Ferguson, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **49**, 1365 (1968).
 (10) E. E. Ferguson, F. C. Fehsenfeld, and A. L. Schmeltekopf, *Adv. Atom.*
- Mol. Phys., 5, 1 (1969).
- D. P. Beggs and F. W. Lampe, J. Phys. Chem., **73**, 4194 (1969).
 M. G. Inghram and R. Gomer, Z. Naturforsch., **10A**, 863 (1955).
 H. D. Beckey, Z. Naturforsch., **14A**, 712 (1959).
- (14) F. H. Field, J. L. Franklin, and M. S. B. Munson, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 85, 3575 (1963).
- (15) M. S. B. Munson and F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 2621 (1966).
- (16) P. Kebarle and E. W. Godbole, J. Chem. Phys., 39, 1131 (1963).
- (17) P. Kebarle, R. M. Haynes, and J. G. Collins, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 89, 5753 (1967).
- (18) J. G. Collins and P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 46, 1082 (1967).
- D. A. Durden, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 1969.
 D. A. Durden, P. Kebarle, and A. Good, J. Chem. Phys., 50, 805
- (1969)
- (21) A. J. Cunningham, J. D. Payzant, and P. Kebarle, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 7627 (1972).
- (22) P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 53, 2129 (1970).
- L. Friedman, J. Chem. Phys., 53, 2130 (1970).
 P. Kebarle, S. K. Searles, A. Zolla, J. Scarborough, and M. Arshadi, J. Action of the physical science Am. Chem. Soc., **89**, 6393 (1967). (25) D. P. Beggs and F. H. Field, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **93**, 1567 (1971).

- (26) W. C. Lineberger and L. J. Puckett, Phys. Rev., 186, 116 (1969).
- (27) E. Rabinovitch, *Trans. Faraday Soc.*, **33**, 283 (1937).
 (28) G. Porter, *Discuss. Faraday Soc.*, **33**, 198 (1962).

- (29) A. N. Hayhurst and P. J. Padley, *Trans. Faraday Soc.*, **63**, 1620 (1967).
 (30) E. C. Beaty and P. L. Patterson, *Phys. Rev.*, **137**, A346 (1965).
 (31) P. Kebarle, R. M. Haynes, and S. K. Searles, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **47**, 1684
- (1967)
- (32) D. K. Bohme, D. B. Dunkin, F. C. Fehsenfeld, and E. E. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys., **51**, 863 (1969). (33) F. E. Niles and W. W. Robertson, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **42**, 3277 (1965).

- (34) A. V. Phelps and S. C. Brown, *Phys. Rev.*, **86**, 102 (1952).
 (35) D. Smith, A. G. Dean, and I. C. Plumb, *J. Phys.* **8**, **5**, 2134 (1972).
 (36) P. L. Patterson, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **48**, 3625 (1968).
 (37) B. H. Mahan, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **43**, 3080 (1965).

- (38) T. R. Grossheim, J. J. Leventhal, and H. H. Harris, Phys. Rev. A, 7, 1591 (1973).
- (39) W. Kaul and R. Fuchs, Z. Naturforsch., 15A, 326 (1960).
- (40) R. E. Huffman and D. H. Katayama, J. Chem. Phys., 45, 138 (1966).
 (41) H. H. Teng and D. C. Conway, J. Chem. Phys., 59, 2316 (1973).
 (42) M. S. B. Munson, F. H. Field, and J. L. Franklin, J. Chem. Phys., 37, 1790 (1962).
- (43) P. N. Reagan, J. C. Browne, and F. A. Matsen, Phys. Rev., 132, 304 (1963)
- (44) M. L. Ginter and C. M. Brown, J. Chem. Phys., 56, 672 (1972).
- (44) M. L. Ginter and C. M. Brown, J. Chem. Phys., **50**, 072 (1972).
 (45) R. S. Mulliken, J. Chem. Phys., **52**, 5170 (1970).
 (46) E. E. Ferguson, D. B. Dunkin, F. C. Fehsenfeld, and A. L. Schmeltek-opf, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, **13**, 212 (1968).
 (47) C. P. de Vries and H. J. Oskam, *Phys. Lett.*, **29A**, 299 (1969).

- (48) J. B. Gerado and M. A. Gusinow, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, **15**, 417 (1970).
 (49) P. L. Patterson, *Phys. Rev. A*, **2**, 1154 (1970).
 (50) T. M. Miller, J. T. Moseley, D. W. Martin, and E. W. McDaniel, *Phys.*
- Rev. Lett., 21, A3 (1968). Rev. Lett., 21, A3 (1968).
 (51) E. Graham, D. R. James, W. C. Keever, I. R. Gatland, D. L. Albritton, and E. W. McDaniel, J. Chem. Phys., 59, 4648 (1973).
 (52) H. H. Harris, M. G. Crowley, T. R. Grossheim, P. J. Woessner, and J. J. Leventhal, J. Chem. Phys., 59, 6181 (1973).
 (53) J. Easterfield and J. W. Linnett, Chem. Commun., 64 (1970).
 (54) R. Clampitt and L. Gowland, Nature (London), 223, 815 (1969).
 (55) U. A. Arifov, S. L. Pozharov, I. G. Chernov, and Z. A. Mukhamediev, High Easter.

- (55) O. A. Antov, S. L. Poharov, I. G. Chemov, and Z. A. Mukhamediev, High Energy Chem. (Engl. Trans.), 5, 81, 90 (1971).
 (56) S. L. Bennett and F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 8669 (1972).
 (57) M. Saporoschenko, Phys. Rev., 111, 1550 (1958); 139, A352 (1965); R. N. Varney, J. Geophys. Res., 72, 5578 (1967).
- (58) P. Warneck, J. Chem. Phys., 48, 502 (1967).
 (59) D. K. Bohme, D. B. Dunkin, F. C. Fehsenfeld, and E. E. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys., 49, 5201 (1968).
 (60) A. Good, D. A. Durden, and P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 50, 212
- (1970).
 (61) R. N. Varney, *Phys. Rev.*, **174**, 165 (1968).
 (62) R. K. Curran, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **38**, 2974 (1963).

- (63) R. K. Asundi, G. J. Schultz, and P. J. Chantry, J. Chem. Phys., 47, 1584 (1967).
- (64) J. D. Payzant and P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 53, 4723 (1970).
- (65) D. C. Conway, J. Chem. Phys., 50, 3864 (1969).
 (66) G. S. Janik and D. C. Conway, J. Phys. Chem., 71, 823 (1967).
- (67) V. Cermak and Z. Hermann, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun., 30,
- 1343 (1965).
- (68) J. L. Franklin, J. G. Dillard, H. M. Rosenstock, J. T. Herron, K. Draxl, and F. H. Field, "Ionization Potentials, Appearance Potentials and Heats of Formation of Gaseous Positive Ions," NSRDS-NBS 26, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1969.

- (69) J. H. Yang and D. C. Conway, J. Chem. Phys., 40, 1729 (1964).
 (70) D. C. Conway and J. H. Yang, J. Chem. Phys., 43, 2900 (1965).
 (71) D. C. Conway and G. S. Janik, J. Chem. Phys., 53, 1859 (1970).
 (72) A. Good, D. A. Durden, and P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 52, 222 (1970).
- (1970). (73) N. G. Adams, D. K. Bohme, D. B. Dunkin, F. C. Fehsenfeld, and E. E.
- Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys., 52, 3133 (1970). (74)
- (75)
- (76)
- C. J. Howard, V. M. Bierbaum, H. W. Rundle, and F. Kaufman, J. Chem. Phys., 57, 3491 (1972).
 J. T. Herron and H. I. Schiff, J. Chem. Phys., 24, 1266 (1956).
 V. A. J. Van Vlint, E. G. Wikner, and D. L. Trueblood, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 5, 122 (1960). (77) J. J. Lennon and M. J. Mulcahy, Proc. Phys. Soc., London, 78, 1543
- (1961) (78) L. M. Chanin, A. V. Phelps, and M. A. Biondi, Phys. Rev., 128, 219
- (1962)

- (1962).
 (79) J. L. Pack and A. V. Phelps, J. Chem. Phys., 44, 1870 (1966).
 (80) F. K. Truby, Phys. Rev. A, 6, 671 (1972).
 (81) J. L. Pack and A. V. Phelps, J. Chem. Phys., 45, 4316 (1966).
 (82) J. D. Payzant and P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 56, 3482 (1972).
- (63) D. S. Burch and R. Geballe, *Phys. Rev.*, **106**, 183 (1957).
 (84) D. A. Parkes, *Trans. Faraday Soc.*, **67**, 711 (1971).
 (85) L. G. McKnight, *Phys. Rev. A*, **2**, 762 (1970).
- J. L. Moruzzi and A. V. Phelps, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 11, 506 (1966). (86)
- (87) D. A. Parkes, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1, 69, 198 (1973).
 (88) D. A. Parkes, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1, 68, 627 (1972).

- (69) D. C. Conway and L. E. Nesbitt, J. Chem. Phys., 48, 509 (1968).
 (90) M. R. Arshadi and P. Kebarle, J. Phys. Chem., 74, 1483 (1970).
 (91) P. Kebarle, M. Arshadi, and J. Scarborough, J. Chem. Phys., 49, 817 (1968).
- (92) R. Yamdagni, J. D. Payzant, and P. Kebarle, Can. J. Chem., 51, 2507 (1973).
- (93) R. S. Narcisi and A. D. Balley, J. Geophys. Res., 70, 3687 (1965).
 (94) R. S. Narcisi, Space Res., 7, 186 (1970).
 (95) R. S. Narcisi, Ann. Geophys., 22, 224 (1966).

(96) W. C. Lineberger and L. J. Puckett, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 14, 261 (1969). (97) O. P. Strausz, W. K. Duholke, and H. E. Gunning, J. Am. Chem. Soc.,

A. Good

- 92, 4128 (1970).
- (98) S. K. Searles and L. W. Sieck, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **53**, 794 (1970).
 (99) L. J. Puckett and M. W. Teague, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **54**, 2564 (1971).
 (100) F. C. Fehsenfeld, M. Mosesman, and E. E. Ferguson, *J. Chem. Phys.*,
- 55, 2120 (1971). (101) C. J. Howard, H. W. Rundle, and F. Kaufman, J. Chem. Phys., 55, 4772 (1971).
- (102) M. A. French, L. P. Hills, and P. Kebarle, Can. J. Chem., 51, 456
- (1973). (103) D. B. Dunkin, F. C. Fehsenfeld, A. L. Schmeltekopf, and E. E. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys., 54, 3817 (1971).
 (104) F. E. Niles, J. M. Heimerl, G. E. Keller, and L. J. Puckett, Radio Sci., 7,
- 117 (1972).
- (105) F. C. Fehsenfeld and E. E. Ferguson, J. Geophys. Res., 74, 2217 (1969).
- (106) L. J. Puckett, M. W. Teague, and M. D. Kregel, DASA Symposium on Physics and Chemistry of the Upper Atmosphere, Stanford, Calif., June 1969.

- (107) R. C. Gunton and T. M. Shaw, *Phys. Rev.*, **140**, A756 (1965).
 (108) C. S. Weller and M. A. Biondi, *Phys. Rev.*, **172**, 198 (1968).
 (109) L. J. Puckett, M. D. Kregel, and M. W. Teague, *Phys. Rev. A*, **4**, 1659 (1971).
- (110) D. A. Parkes and T. M. Sugden, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 2, 68, 600 (1972).
- (111) D. A. Parkes, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1, 68, 2121 (1972).
- (112) M. M. Shahin, J. Chem. Phys., 45, 2600 (1966).
- (113) L. J. Puckett and W. C. Lineberger, *Phys. Rev. A*, **1**, 1635 (1970).
 (114) J. D. Payzant, A. J. Cunningham, and P. Kebarle, *Can. J. Chem.*, **50**, 2230 (1972).
- (115) J. D. Payzant, R. Yamdagni, and P. Kebarle, Can. J. Chem., 49, 3308 (1971)
- (116) R. S. Narcisi, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 15, 518 (1970).
- (117) E. E. Ferguson, D. B. Dunkin, and F. C. Fehsenfeld, J. Chem. Phys., 57, 1459 (1972).
- (118) S. L. Chong and J. L. Franklin, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **54**, 1487 (1971). (119) S. M. Schildcrout and J. L. Franklin, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **92**, 251
- (1970).
- (120) S. M. Schildcrout, J. G. Collins, and J. L. Franklin, J. Chem. Phys., 52, 5767 (1970).
- (121) E. E. Ferguson, in ref 2, p 378.

5842 (1973).

(1971).

(197 t).

(1970)

(1969).

(1960).

(1969)

55, 2115 (1971).

1446 (1973).

- (122) S. K. Searles and P. Kebarle, *Can. J. Chem.*, **47**, 2619 (1969).
 (123) I. Dzidic and P. Kebarle, *J. Phys. Chem.*, **74**, 1466 (1970).
 (124) S. K. Searles, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 1968.
- (124) S. K. Searles, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 1968.
 (125) P. Kebarle, S. K. Searles, A. Zolla, J. Scarborough, and M. Arshadi, Adv. Mass Spectrom. 4, 621 (1968).
 (126) G. J. Doyne and R. G. Caldwell, Rept. AD 635 522, Stanford Research Institute, 1966; quoted in ref 122.
- (127) J. S. Muirhead-Gould and K. J. Laidler, Trans. Faraday Soc., 63, 944 (1967)

(132) R. Johnsen, H. L. Brown, and M. A. Biondi, J. Chem. Phys., 55, 186

(133) L. G. McKnight and J. M. Sawina, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 16, 214 (1971).

(134) R. Clampitt and D. K. Jefferies, Nature (London), 226, 141 (1970).
 (135) R. A. Beyer and G. E. Keller, Trans., Am. Geophys. Union, 52, 303

(136) L. G. McKnight and J. M. Sawina, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 19, 154 (1974).

(137) G. E. Keller, R. A. Beyer, and L. M. Colonna-Romano, Phys. Rev. A, 8,

(138) L. G. McKnight and J. M. Sawina, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., 18, 804 (1973).

(139) G. E. Keller and R. A. Beyer, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, **16**, 214 (1973).
(140) G. E. Keller and R. A. Beyer, *J. Geophys. Res.*, **76**, 289 (1971).
(141) K. G. Spears and E. E. Ferguson, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **59**, 4174 (1973).
(142) T. L. Brown, *Chem. Rev.*, **73**, 645 (1973).
(143) F. C. Fehsenfeld, E. E. Ferguson, and A. L. Schmeltekopf, *Bull. Am.*

Phys. Soc., 13, 212 (1968).
 (144) K. G. Spears and F. C. Fehsenfeld, J. Chem. Phys., 56, 5698 (1972).

(145) M. A. Biondi, *Phys. Rev.*, **90**, 730 (1953).
(146) I. N. Tang and A. W. Castleman, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **57**, 3638 (1972).
(147) A. W. Castleman and I. N. Tang, *Bull. Am. Phys. Soc.*, **19**, 154 (1974).
(148) M. R. Arshadi, R. Yamdagni, and P. Kebarle, *J. Phys. Chem.*, **74**, 1475

(149) R. Yamdagni and P. Kebarle, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 7139 (1971).
 (150) P. Kebarle, M. Arshadi, and J. Scarborough, J. Chem. Phys., 50, 1049

(151) J. D. Payzant and P. Kebarle, unpublished results; quoted in ref 2.
(152) R. Yamdagni and P. Kebarle, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 94, 2940 (1972).
(153) P. F. Knewstubb and T. M. Sugden, *Proc. R. Soc. London*, A255, 520

(154) P. F. Knewstubb and A. W. Tickner, J. Chem. Phys., 36, 674 (1962).
(155) H. D. Beckey, Z. Naturforsch., 15A, 822 (1960).
(156) F. C. Fehsenfeld, M. Mosesman, and E. E. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys.,

(157) M. S. B. Munson, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 5313 (1965).
(158) P. Kebarle and A. M. Hogg, J. Chem. Phys., 42, 798 (1965).
(159) M. De Paz, J. J. Leventhal, and L. Friedman, J. Chem. Phys., 51, 3748

(160) C. E. Young, D. Edelson, and W. E. Falconer, J. Chem. Phys., 53, 4295

- (128) J. O. Hirschfelder, C. F. Curtis, and R. B. Bird, "Molecular Theory of Gases and Liquids," Wiley, New York, N.Y., 1954, p 110.
- (129) R. H. Stokes, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 86, 979 (1964).
 (130) K. G. Spears, J. Chem. Phys., 57, 1850 (1972).
 (131) H. Kistenmacher, H. Popkie, and E. Clementi, J. Chem. Phys., 59,

(1970).

- (161) C. E. Young, D. Edelson, and W. E. Falconer, Adv. Mass Spectrom., 5, 229 (1971)

- (162) C. E. Young and W. E. Falconer, J. Chem. Phys., 57, 918 (1972).
 (163) F. H. Field and D. P. Beggs, Adv. Mass Spectrom., 5, 226 (1971).
 (164) D. P. Beggs and F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 1576 (1971).
- (165) S. L. Bennett and F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 5186 (1972).
 (166) F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 91, 2827 (1969).
 (167) W. P. Kraemer and G. H. F. Dierckson, Chem. Phys. Lett., 5, 463 (1970).
- (168) P. A. Kollman and L. C. Allen, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **92**, 6101 (1970).
 (169) E. P. Grimsrud and P. Kebarle, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **95**, 7939 (1973).
 (170) S. K. Gupta, E. G. Jones, A. G. Harrison, and J. J. Myher, *Can. J.*
- Chem., **45**, 3107 (1967). (171) M. J. McAdams and L. I. Bone, *J. Chem. Phys.*, **57**, 2173 (1972).
- (172) W. H. Kasner and M. A. Biondi, Phys. Rev., 174, 139 (1968).
- (173) E. E. Ferguson, as in ref 106.
- 174) J. Daly and R. E. Burton, Trans. Faraday Soc., 66, 2408 (1970)
- (175) M. De Paz, S. Ehrenson, and L. Friedman, J. Chem. Phys., 52, 3362 (1970).
- (1970).
 (176) E. Wicke, M. Eigen, and T. Ackermann, Z. Phys. Chem. (Frankfurt am Main), 1, 340 (1954).
 (177) R. Grahn, Ark. Fys., 21, 13 (1962).
 (178) M. D. Newton and S. Ehrenson, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 4971 (1971).

- (179) J. O. Lundgren and J. M. Williams, J. Chem. Phys., 58, 788 (1973).
 (180) J. M. Williams, Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Lett., 3, 297 (1967).
 (181) A. C. Pavia and P. A. Giguere, J. Chem. Phys., 52, 3551 (1970).

- (182) E. Chemouni, M. Fournier, J. Roziere, and J. Potier, *J. Chim. Phys. Phys. Chim. Biol.*, **67**, 517 (1970).
 (183) R. A. More-O'Ferrall, G. W. Koeppl, and A. J. Kresge, *J. Am. Chem.*
- Soc., 93, 1 (1971).
- J. Rudolph and H. Zimmermann, Z. Phys. Chem. (Frankfurt am Main), (184)43, 311 (1964). (185) J. L. Beauchamp and S. E. Buttrill, J. Chem. Phys., 48, 1783 (1968).

- (186) M. A. Haney and J. L. Franklin, J. Chem. Phys., 50, 2028 (1969).
 (187) L. W. Sieck and S. K. Searles, J. Chem. Phys., 53, 2601 (1970).
 (188) V. N. Kondratyev and N. D. Sokolov, Zh. Fiz. Khim., 29, 1265 (1955);
- Chem. Abstr., 50, 7562i (1956). (189) S. I. Vetchinkin, E. A. Pshenichnov, and N. D. Sokolov, Zh. Fiz. Khim.,
- **33**, 1269 (1959); *Chem. Abstr.*, **54**, 8205d (1960). (190) F. W. Lampe and J. H. Futrell, *Trans. Faraday Soc.*, **59**, 1957 (1963).
- (191) D. Van Raalte and A. G. Harrison, *Can. J. Chem.*, 41, 3118 (1963).
 (192) S. L. Chong, R. A. Myers, and J. L. Franklin, *J. Chem. Phys.*, 56, 2427
- (1972)(193) R. J. Cotter and W. S. Koski, J. Chem. Phys., 59, 784 (1973).

- (193) R. J. Cotter and W. S. Koski, J. Chem. Phys., 59, 784 (1973).
 (194) A. R. Anway, J. Chem. Phys., 50, 2012 (1969).
 (195) K. Buijs and G. R. Choppin, J. Chem. Phys., 39, 2035 (1963).
 (196) J. S. Rowlinson, Trans. Faraday Soc., 47, 120 (1951).
 (197) J. A. Pople, Proc. R. Soc. London, A205, 163 (1951).
- (198) H. F. Halliwell and S. C. Nyburg, Trans. Faraday Soc., 59, 1126 (1963).
- (199) W. R. Henderson and A. L. Schmeltekopf, J. Chem. Phys., 57, 4502 (1972).

- (200) L. M. Branscomb, *Phys. Rev.*, 148, 11 (1966).
 (201) S. Golub and B. Steiner, *J. Chem. Phys.*, 49, 5191 (1968).
 (202) M. De Paz, A. Guidoni-Giardini, and L. Friedman, *J. Chem. Phys.*, 52, 687 (1970).
- (203) L. V. Coulter, J. Phys. Chem., 57, 553 (1953).
- (204) W. L. Jolly, J. Phys. Chem., 58, 250 (1954).
 (205) K. P. Mishchenko, Zh. Fiz. Khim., 26, 1736 (1952); Chem. Abstr., 47, 6225c (1953).

- (206) A. P. Altschuler, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 3480 (1955).
 (207) A. M. Hogg and P. Kebarle, J. Chem. Phys., 43, 449 (1965).
 (208) A. M. Hogg, R. M. Haynes, and P. Kebarle, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 28

(1966).

- (209) S. K. Searles and P. Kebarle, J. Phys. Chem., 72, 742 (1968).
- (210) J. D. Payzant, A. J. Cunningham, and P. Kebarle, Can. J. Chem., 51, 3242 (1973).
- (211) D. K. Bohme and F. C. Fehsenfeld, Can. J. Chem., 47, 2715 (1969).
- (212) F. C. Fehsenfeld and E. E. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys., 54, 439 (1971).
 (213) L. J. Puckett and M. W. Teague, J. Chem. Phys., 54, 4860 (1971).
 (214) S. L. Bennett and F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 6305 (1972).
- (214) S. L. Bennett and D. P. Beggs, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 6305 (1972).
 (215) F. H. Field and D. P. Beggs, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 1585 (1971).
 (216) S. L. Bennett and F. H. Field, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 5188 (1972).
 (217) L. W. Sieck and R. Gordon, Int. J. Chem. Kinet., 5, 445 (1973).
- (218) J. S. Dahler, J. L. Franklin, M. S. B. Munson, and F. H. Field, J. Chem.
- Phys., 36, 3332 (1962).
- (219) S. Wexler and R. Marshall, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 86, 781 (1964).
 (220) P. Kebarle and A. M. Hogg, J. Chem. Phys., 42, 668 (1965).
 (221) P. Kebarle and A. M. Hogg, Adv. Mass Spectrom., 3, 401 (1966).
- (222) P. Kebarle, R. M. Haynes and S. K. Searles, Adv. Chem. Ser., No. 58, 210 (1966).
- (223) P. Kebarle and R. M. Haynes, J. Chem. Phys., 47, 1676 (1967).
 (224) T. O. Tiernan and J. H. Futrell, J. Phys. Chem., 72, 3080 (1968).
- (225) C. Lifshitz and T. O. Tiernan, J. Chem. Phys., 55, 3555 (1971).
- (226) J. J. Myher and A. G. Harrison, *Can. J. Chem.*, **46**, 101 (1968). (227) A. G. Harrison and A. A. Herod, *Can. J. Chem.*, **48**, 3549 (1970).
- (228) J. A. Herman and A. G. Harrison, Can. J. Chem., 47, 957 (1969)
- (229) J. A. Herman, J. J. Myher, and A. G. Harrison, Can. J. Chem., 47, 647 (1969).
- (230) V. G. Anicich and M. T. Bowers, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 1279 (1974).
- (231) L. W. Sieck, S. K. Searles, and P. Ausloos, J. Chem. Phys., 54, 91 (1971)
- (232) S. L. Bennett, S. G. Lias, and F. H. Field, J. Phys. Chem., 76, 3919 (1972).
- (233) L. Heliner and L. W. Sieck, *Int. J. Chem. Kinet.*, 5, 177 (1973).
 (234) J. P. Briggs, R. Yamdagni, and P. Kebarle, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 94, 5128 (1972).
- (235) R. Yamdagni and P. Kebarle, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 3504 (1973).
 (236) R. F. Pottie and W. H. Hamill, J. Phys. Chem., 63, 877 (1959).

- (200) H. F. Pottle and W. H. Hamill, J. Phys. Chem., 63, 877 (1959).
 (237) M. E. Russell and W. A. Chupka, J. Phys. Chem., 75, 3797 (1971).
 (238) K. A. G. MacNeil and J. H. Futrell, J. Phys. Chem., 76, 409 (1972).
 (239) M. Kumakara and T. Sugiura, "Recent Developments in Mass Spectrometry," K. Ogata and T. Hayakawa, Ed., University Park Press, London, 1970, p 988.
 (240) S. Woyley and L. O. D. H. Start, S. St
- (240) S. Wexler and L. G. Pobo, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **91**, 7233 (1969).
 (241) S. Wexler and L. G. Pobo, *J. Phys. Chem.*, **74**, 257 (1970).
 (242) F. H. Field, P. Hamlet, and W. F. Libby, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **91**, 2839
- (1969).(243) P. Kebarle, Adv. Chem. Ser., No. 72, 24 (1968).
- (244) T. Y. Yu, T. M. H. Cheng, V. Kempter, and F. W. Lampe, J. Phys. Chem., 76, 3321 (1972).
- (245) J. K. Northrop and F. W. Lampe, J. Phys. Chem., 77, 30 (1973).
- (246) P. Langevin, Ann. Chim. Phys., 5, 245 (1905).
- (247) G. Gioumousis and D. P. Stevenson, J. Chem. Phys., 29, 294 (1958).
 (248) J. C. Walton, J. Phys. Chem., 71, 2763 (1967).
- (249) T. Su and M. T. Bowers, J. Chem. Phys., 58, 3027 (1973),
- (250) D. K. Bohme, *Can. J. Chem.*, **47**, 1809 (1969).
 (251) G. E. Keller and F. E. Niles, *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, **10**, 526 (1971). (252) A. Good, Trans. Faraday Soc., 67, 3495 (1971)
- (253) A. Good, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys., 10, 379 (1973).
- (254) L. S. Kassel, J. Phys. Chem., 32, 225 (1928).
- (255) F. E. Niles and W. W. Robertson, J. Chem. Phys., 43, 1076 (1965).
 (256) B. M. Smirnov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz., 51, 1747 (1966); Sov. Phys.-JETP.
- 24, 1180 (1967). (257) A. S. Dickinson, R. E. Roberts, and R. B. Bernstein, J. Phys. B, 5, 355
- (1972).